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- PREFACE.

IN December last the author of this little volume wrote for the
“FREE PRESS,” at Mt. Ple:sait, Iowa, a sketch of the History of
the Abduction of William Morgan, and the excitement which followed
that occurrence, detailing some incidents and facts which had never
before been published. These sketches were published in the issue
of that paper of December 26th. 1873, and the three succeeding num-
bers of January following. The publishers anticipating a demuind
for extra copies, issued some two hundred surplus numbers to their
regular editions, but these were soon exhausted. and so many orders
came in which they could not fill, that it was proposed by them to
issue the work in this form. Being alsourged by muny friends, the
author has carcfully reviewed the publication in the newspapar form,
re-writing it in a more full and complete manner, adding many details
and incidents not appaaring in the first pablication, and correcting all
erroneous statements that would naturally occur in a hastily penned
newspaper article.

No one can more readily realize than I do that portions of this
work may appear stale to soms readers, as parts of it in sabstanc>
have been in print for more than forty years, and issued in various
forms, but a new generation has arisen since the days when these
events took place, and many younger readers may never perhaps have
read them in a form in which the matter could be readily understood.

The events narrated here have been carefully gathered from the
most reliable sources, many of which are detailed from an actual
personal knowledge, and from records published at the time of their
occurrence, Nearly half a century has elapsed since the time of the
disappearance of William Morgan, and his supposed murder, and it is
believed this work, reciting the principal scenes in the excitement
which followed will not prove uninteresting at this time. The time
is not very remote when those who were in the midst of life and.
cotempornry to these events will have passed away, and the hisiory-
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magazines and periodicals there is a statement
one of Lafitte's piratical band which rendez-
‘he mouth of the Mississippi river, and received
imesty fer his crimes on condition of joining the
1. Jackson in the defence of New Orleans in
.1so that he deserted from New Orleans before
“ the 8th of January, 1815. This story was firs
the “American Free Mason,” about 1858, and
c¢lse to support its authenticity than the ro
or’s imagination. The same fiction is repeatec
.oonal Freemason,” in 1867, and is probably de
ir1e same sounce. The most satisfactory account
1y so far as is known, is, that he lived a sort o
life, working at his trade at intervals in his na
“ning counties, till after he was upwards of fort;
xe.  In 1819, he was married to Lucy (o
: *¢ndleton, a young daughter of a Methodis
He was about forty-five years of age at th
1uarriage, and it has been many times publishe:
"t'¢ was but fifteen. The fact is she was abou
v crified by her own statement given on a tria
*:urty for the abduction of her husband in 1829
t.uted she was then thirty years of age. It wa
n1d published that “Morgan, a man of forty-five
e ducted this motherless girl, and perjured himsel
1¢r license of marriage,” and that her reveren
U of grief at being so cruelly bereft of a darlin
The truth of this, especially in its exaggerate
* well be doubted, but a writer-in the “Americal
‘n,"” a few years ago, wove them into a very prett;
11 romance, which if true would make Morgan
indeed. It is, however, well authenticated that h
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wus intemperate to a very immoderate degree, and possess-
ed of but few moral principles or attributes perhaps of honor
or honesty. He had only a very limited education, but those
who were personally acquainted with him at Rochester and
Batavia, concar that he was pleasant in his manners when
sober, and conducting towards his family and friends in
those seasons like other men of similar habits. He had a
wonderful faculty of getting into debt. but none to get out.
He was considered among his acquaintances, what wouald
at this day probably be called a “Jdead beat.”

In 1821, he moved with his wife to Little York (now To-
ronto ) Canada, and commenced the business of a brewer. He
does not appear to have been very prosperous, as he was
constantly embarrassed and annoyed by importunate credi--
tors. His brewery was soon burned and he was left a
hopeless bankrupt. After this misfortune, he is reported as
giving himself up wholly to his former habits of intoxica-
tion, and for a time his wife only subsisted on the charity
of the neighbors. He stole away from his creditors who
had obtained writs for his imprisonment, and being pur-
sued, he resisted the officer and wounded him by a pistol
shot. He came to Rochester, N. Y., and obtaining employ--
ment at his trade, as stone mason, sent for his family. It
in said that it was here he first conceived the idea of pub-
lishing a pretended’ expose of Free-masonry, and thus im-
proving his embarrassed circumstances, in a financial point of
view, by the sale of such a work. Before his family arrived
in Rochester, he boarded at the house of a man by the name of
Whitney, a brother of John Whitney, who was afterwards
implicated, tried and convicted for his abduction. While
hoarding at Whitney’s, Morgan went to New York City, for
some purpose best known to himself, and on his return he
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got very drunk at Albany, and in that condition went aboard
of a canal boat, and as the Captain said, “did not get sober till
he reached Rochester.”” In his maudlin condition, he left ~
at a hotel in Albany a package, which was found to consist
of a copy of a book entitled “Jachin and Boaz,’ and- also
the works of Abbe Burrelle, an exiled Jesuit from France,
who published in England, in 1799, a pretended exposition
of Free masonry and the esoteric ritual of an order which
had been suppressed in France and Germany called the «7i-
luminatl”” The copy of “Jachin and Boaz” was of the edi-
tion printed in 1814, and which was a reprint from several.
editions previously published in England.* This package
was returned to Morgan by Mr. Whitney who was at Al-
bany soon after Morgan’s return to Rochester. Morgan at
some time, it is supposed in Virginia, had received scme of
the degrees 1n masonry. It was doubtful, however, that he
had ever taken more than the first in a regular way, but it
seems that he satisfied the members of the Lodge at Roch-
_ ester that he had received three, and was admitted to the
Lodge. Emboldened by this success, he afterward convine-
e the Chapter at Le Roy that he had received six degrees
and was there exalted to the Royal Arch degree.
Morgan moved to Batavia in January, 1826, and soon

he and Miller were boon companions. Miller, was not a
mason, although He claimed he had received the entered
apprentice degree some years before.at.Albany. A masonic
writer has described the masgnic. standing. of thesa two
men as follows: “Miller had taken one step inside the
door, and Morgan had climbed over the wall.” .Morgan, af-
ter moving to Batavia, induced Rlanchard Powers, the Grand

* An edition of “ Jachin and Boaz' was pablished in New York in 1814 by

* E. Dyckinck, 102 Pear] Street—Nicholas " \u Riper, Printer,"—a reprint of the
London edition of 1750, . '
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Lecturer of the State of New York, to give him a course of
instruction, by which means he was enabled to pass him-
self, without difficulty, as a mason among all intelligent
brethren. Morgan and Miller then entered into partnership
to print a book which the public was to be told disclosed
the secrets of masonry, in hopes to make a fortune out of
the gaping curiosity of the vulgar. But as neither had the
money to issue the work, they were.obliged to let others into
the firm. John Davids, of Batavia, and Russell Dyer, of
Rochester, having been applied to, readily saw it would bea
good speculation, and advanced the necessary means to put
the work throngh the press. Morgan seems to have pene-
trated the mercenary motives of his partners and required
of them to subscribe and swear to the following oath:

“We, and each of us, do hereby most solemnly, and
sincerely promise and swear, upon the Holy Evangelists of
Almighty God, that we will never divulge during our natur-
al lives, communicate or make known to any person in the
known world, our knowledge, or any part thereof, respecting
William Morgan’s intention (communicated to us) to pub-
lish a book on the subject of Free masonry, neither by
writing, marking or insinuation, or any way devisable by
man.

“Sworn and subscribed this 13th day of March, 1826.
t JonN, Davips,

[Signed.] " RusseLL Dyer,
D. C. MiLLEr,”
THE BOOK ADVERTISED. -

In the Summer of 1826, Miller issued a prospectus and
announced in the colummns of the “Républican Advocate,”
that Morgan had written out a full and complete illustra-
ion of the esoteric part of Free-masonry, together with
the secret ritual and lectures pertaining thereto, which
would, when published, bring everything to light concealed
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by the members of the fraternity, and that it would in a
short time be issued from his press and be on sale at $1.00
per copy.

HOW MASONS VIEWED THE ANNOUNCEMENT.

This anneuncement created wonder and perhaps com-
motion in the various masonic bodies wherever the paper
circulated, but the greater portion of the respectable mem-
bers of the fraternity treated the matter with silence and

- contempt. But others were not so wise. While there were
those outside of the Order elated that an opportunity would
now be given to learn all about the mysteries of the’ “inner
chamber” which had been so long and carefully locked in
the breasts of the initiated, there were some indiscreet
members who determined to prevent the publication of the
proposed book.

A RIFFLE IN THE QUARTETTE.

About the first of August by some means Morgan dis-
covered something, that made him suspicious that his three
partoers designed to swindle him. Therefore he writes
them the following letter:

“Aveust 7, 1826.

“GEN’I’LLMLN —\I) note of this morning has not been
answered. Further evasion and equivocation I will not
submit to. Acknowledge you are not gentlemen, or I will
expose you in twelve hours, unless you do as you have
agreed to do. I am not a child—if you suppose I am you
are mistaken. I am a man and will not suffer myself to be
imposed upon; you have not acted as gentlemen. I am
sorry to be compelled to say it. Every part of your con-
duct has been mysterious, and why so? My first impres-
sions were that you were nat honest men; therefore I wish
to settle and have no more to do with you. If either of
you feel hurt, call on me, as gentlemen, and I will give you
any satisfaction you wish.

[Signed.] WiLLiax Mograan.”
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This bellicose eplstle appears to have fnghtonul th(-
triumvirate speculators in book publishing, but Morgan
was quieted by Dyer and Davids executing to him a bond
in the penal sum of five hundred thousand dollars condi-
tioned for the payment of one-fourth part of the sum which
should be received on the sale of the proposed bhook. An-
other partner was soon after received into the company, for
the sake of more capital. His name was David Johns, but
it seems he did not furnish the capital as he agreed, as a -
quarrel again arose, and came very near breaking up the
whole enterprise. Morgan, who I have heretofore remark-
ed, had a peculiar faculty for getting into debt and never
getting out, was at this time very much harrassed by his
creditors. On the 25th of July he was arrested and con-
fined within the jail limits of Batavia at the suit of one of
these creditors. It will be remembered that the law for im-
prisonment for debt had not at that time been abolished in
New York. His partners were compelled to bail him out.
But other creditors instituted proceedings and they became
alarmed lest the amount of security they were compelled to
assyme, would takeé up more than Morgan's share of the
profits in the sale of the bpok.

CHEAP ADVERTISING.

It was the’ policy of Miller and his confederates, to-
gether withi an Anti- -masonic cabal which had-been already
formed, to make, it appear that the masons were devising
various schemes to prevent the publication of the book.
Among other agsertions it was deolared that De Witt Clin-
ton, ‘then Governor of New Ydrlt as the head of the Grand
Chp.pter of the "State, had 1ssned a masonic edict for sup-
pressing the work, “even at the expense of life”  Mon-
strous as this’' was it wids believed, or pretended to be be-
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lieved, by many who had a craving, morbid curiosity to see
what the book would contain. Instead of Governor Clin-
ton ever having issued- such an edict, the facts are, a
prominent mason at Batavia. a warm personal and intimate
friend of the Governor’s, wrote him a private letter asking
his advice as to the duty of masons in regard to the forth-

coming book, provided it did disclose any of the esoteric

r.tual of the institution. The reply of Governor Clinton

was, for masons to let the suhject alone, and permit the

book to take its course. He said that Morgan por any

other mason or Anti-mason could injure or affect the prin-
ciples and henevolent purposes of the institution, and that
these were the vital force that gave it value. Owing to the
confidential nature of this correspondence it has never been

published, but I have authority for saying that it was read

in many of the Lodges in Genesee aud other counties. If
all masons had been as wise as the Governor, Morgan and

his confederates would have lived thereafter as obscure as

their former lives had been, and have sunk into oblivion

after their death.

MOB INTERFERENCE.

While Morgan and Miller, as they had announced, were
at work on their publication in Miller’s office, (on the 8th
of September,) a few inconsiderate members of the masonic
fraternity, in an evil hour, attempted a plan for its sup-
pression. Before they knew what really was the character
or extent of the intended disclosures, or that it would dis-
close anything in violation of masonic obligations, forty or
fifty persons, in disguise, assembled at Miller’s office with
the avowed purpose ot destroying the office if necessary,
and burning the manuscript, and such portions of the work as
might already be in print.  This attempt failing, the office

3
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Cnapter at Batavia, « in-
ed in a printed handbill offerin andred
dollars for the apprehension of th endiare

It has been claimed by many, if not all e masonic
writers upon this part of the Morgan History, that these
unlawful p-oceedings were instituted by Miller and  his
partners to increase the excitement and advance the sale of
the work. It such were the facts, it must be acknowledged
they were eminently successful, because the parties which
composed this mob were undonbtedly masons, at least the
publie so understood it.  The crisis soon came.

MORGAN ARRESTED A8 A CRIMINAL.

In May, 1826, Morgan visited certain influential ma-
song in Canandaigua, Ontario county, and under the pre-
tence of traveling in the Southern States, induced them to
further instruct him, and perfect him in the rites and
ceremonies of the Order.  About the first of September
these masons learned of his intended expose, and were in-
dignant at the infammous conduct of the man and naturally
desired to get even with him. While at Canandaigna, Mor-
gan had borrowed a “shirt” and “cravat,” but conveniently
forgot to return them. On the 10th of September, an in-
formation was filed with Sheldon, Esq., a justice of
the peace, at Canandaigua, charging Morgan with stealing
a “sghirt” and “cravat” from Mr. Kingley. A warrant for
his arrest was issned in due form directing “any Constable
or the Sheritf’ of the County to bring said Morgan, before
said Justice, to answer said complaint,” and “to be dealt
with according to law.” 'The warrant was first given to N.
G, Cheesebro, coroner of the county, but he turned it over
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to Hollaway Hayward, a Constable, who proceelded to Bata-
via, (about fifty iiles distance,) made the arrest, aud
brought his prisoner to Canandaigua, arriving there on the
evening of the 11th. On the trial the Justice decided that °
borrowing a shirt and cravat was not larccuy, and Morgan
was discharged. But those who had undertaken to get
Morgan into jail found another remedy to accomplish it.
WMorgan was indebted for board on his former visit to Can-
andaigua, to Mr. Ackley. a hotel keeper, who had assigned
his claim to another party. This party immediately on the
discharge of Morgan for larceny, swore out a claim against
him “in debt.” A Capias ad respondendum was issued,
upon which proceedings a judgment was rendered and ex-
ccution forthwith issned. ) .
MOKGAN BENT TO JAIL,

The laws of New York, as before stated, then author-
ized the imprisonment for debt.” All executions commanded
the sheriff .or constable, if suflicient property of the judg-
ment debtor could not be found to satisfy the judgment
and costs, to take the body of the defendant to the common
jail of the county, “there to be confined until said judgment
and costs are paid, or he be discharged according to law.”
Morgan was taken to the jail about eleven o'clock at night
on the 11th day of September, 1826, and handed over to
Israel R. Hall, deputy sheriff, and keeper of the jail, who
resided with his family in the prison, placed in a cell and
locked up. Here he remained till the next evening, Sep-
tember 12th.

HOW HE GOT OUT.

About seven o'clock on this evening, Mr. Loton Law-
son called at the jail, as appears by the testimony of Mrs.
Mary W. Hall, wife of the jailor, and desired to see Mor-
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gan. Mr. Hall wasabsent, and she conducted Lawson to
Morgan’s cell, where he nad some private conversation with
him. Mrs. Hall said she heard Lawson ask Morgan if he
would go home with him if he would pay the debt and take
him out. Morgan said he would. Lawson then offered to
pay the amount of the execution, but she declined, afraid
Myr. Hall would be injured, and told Lawson he must go out
and find her husband. He went away, but returned soon
and offered to leave considerable more money than was suf-
ficient to pay the claim if she would let Morgan go. She
still declined and Col. Sawyer and Mr. Cheescbro came and
told her it was all right, when she consentel. She then un-
locked the prison door, and Morgan and Lawson marched
out arm in arm into the street. Before she. got the jail
door locked she heard the cry of murder once or twice and
on looking out saw Morgan struggling bhetween two men.
They forced himn along the sidewalk east of the jail, and
were soon hidden from her view by the next house. She
then saw a carringe pass the jail, going east, which shortly
after returned, going west. “It was moonlight and near
nine o'clock when Morgan was taken from the jail.”

Mr. Lawson, who took so leading a part in the discharge
of Morgan, according to the testimony of Mrs. Hall, was a
farmer residing near Canandaigua. Mr.” Cheesebro and
Col. Sawyer were business men in Canandaigua, the first
kept a hat and cap store, the latter a saddle and harness
maker. They were all highly respectable citizens, of whom
no discreditable act had ever been previously charged
against them. The trial and conviction of these three men
will be referred to hereafter.

THE “ABDUCTION.”
As Mrs. Hall states; Morgan left the jail with Lawson,

ABDUCTION OF MORGAN.
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Cheesebro and Sawyer. There was also-another person
who took part in the transaction, who was called at the time
“Dr. Foster,” but who was newver afterwards discovered or
identified. He was a stranger to Mrs. Hall, and also to Dr.
Richard Wells, who was on the sidewalk in front of the
jail, and saw Morgan as he was put into the carriage.
These two witnesses said-they had never before seen him
and never had since. This mysterious “abductor” is a
mystery to this day. .

The testimony of others besides Mrs. Hall, showed that
when they left the jail with Morgan, they walked a few
steps down the street where the latter was forced into a car-
riage and driven out of the village. The question of his
voluntary entrance into'the carriage, or that violence was
used to make him enter, the evidence is very conflioting.
Mr. Lawson claimed that Morgan desired to go, and agreed
willingly to be taken to Canada, away from Miller and his
other partners in the contemplated book publication. He
said “that Morgan reproached himself bitterly for suffering
himself to be the dupe of these men who only had made
a tool of him for their own benefit.” Lawson alsé said
upon leaving the jail that Morgan: entered the car-
riage willingly, and made no out-ory, but Mrs. .Hall, it will
be seen, says she heard the cry of “murder,” and is con-
firmed by Dr. Wells, then a. highly respected . physician .of
Canandaigusa, and who happened. to be near the'jail at the
time, and also’ by a citizen living next door to-the. jail.
Dr. Wells testified that he heard the cry of “munder”. twice
and that Mr. Cheegebro told him, on his inguniring. what the
matter was, “that they had been. liberating a man in jail
on an execution of his, and that he was taken with a ‘jail
piece,” but did not like to go.”- The other witness said he
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“saw a man forced into the carriage.” On the other hand,
Hiram Hubbard, the owner and driver of the carriage, testi-
fied that he observed “no force exercised to put any onc
fnto the carriage—heard no cry of ‘murder.’” Lawson,
Cheesebro and Sawver confirmed Hubbard that no force
was used. The general opinion among the friends of the
“ abductors’” was, that the statement of Lawson was cor-
rect o far that Morgan did agree, while in jail, and was
anxious to go to Canada, in order to get away from his
jartners, but the moment he reached freedom from the
prison bars, he suddenly cbanged his mind and refused to
comply with the compact, but that Lawson, Cheesebro.
S8awyer and “Dr. Foster” determined he should “fulfill the
bond.” But it appears he became subsequently recon-
ciled to the wishes of his “abductors,” as during the whole
journey to the frontier there was no restraint put upon his
movements, and seemed to be entirely free to go where he
pleased until locked again in another prison hereafter
mentioned.
' THE JOURNEY TO NIAGARA.

The testimony of Hubbard, the owner and driver of
the carriage. was, that he was hired to go to Rochester and
take five passengers—that he proceeded to Rochester and
got there about daylight—and went about three miles
beyond, where he was told his services were no longer
needed, when he returned, and was subsequently paid by
Cheesebro. The carriage after taking in Morgan near the
jail, was driven down Jail street about sixty rods east of
the prison, near an old frame building, which was called
“Mechanic’s Hall,” where four men were taken up; when it
turned round, re-passing the jail and on reaching Main
street, near the Court House and “Town House,” turned
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north. At Ackley's tavern, at the north end of Main
street, 8 man in a sulky joined the carriage, and the two
vehicles left the village. . A few miles out the carriage
avertook John Whitney on foot. This gentleman got up .
and rode with the driver to Victor. Here the driver halted
at Beach’s tavern and watered his horses, and some of the
party went into the house and “took a drink.” ,The driver
also stopped at Mendon and Pittsford and gave water to hig
horses, but no one got out of the carriage at either place,
and, as before stated, arrived at Rochester about daylight.
This was as far as Hubbard had been employed to convey
the party, but after a consultation he was requested to go
ou three miles further, to Hanford’s Landing. He complied
and on reaching that point, about eighty rods beyond Han-
ford’s house, near a piece of woods, he discharged his
passengers and returned. Another carriage from Rochester
was just behind which took up Hubbard’s passengers and
proceeded west on the “Ridge road.” This road, so called,
runs on the apex of a considerable ridge, and extends from
the Genesee river, at Hanford’s, to the Nidgara, about
seventy-five miles. The horses were changed at-regular
relays and about sundown, the carriage arrived at Wright’s
tavern, three miles north of Lockpors, where Eli Bruce,
Sheriff of Niagara county, met the party, and who then
seemed to take commaund of the future movements. At
nine o’'clock the company arrived at Molyneux’s tavern,
'near Lewiston, where a Mr. Brown, who had been driver
from Ridgeway, discharged his load and returned. But an-
other carriage was procured to go to Youngstown, which
was driven to Col. King’s, about six miles from Lewiston.
The Colonel here joined the party, and about half a mile

from Fort Niagara, the party left the carriage and proceeded
on foot to the fort.
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A MISTORIC MILITARY POST.

This old fort had had something of a historical record
and romantic interest attache 1 to it. It was first built by
the French prior to the French and Indian war of 1756,
captured by the British duriny that war and retaken hy
the French.  During our revolution it was occupied by the
British troops, but fell into the hands of our government after
the peace ot 1783. [In the war of 1812 an‘expedition from
Canhda crossed over and captured Youngstown, and the
fort surrendered, but was subsequently recaptured by our
forces. The fort stands upon the point where the river
opens into Lake Outario. The fort had been océupied as a
garrison for U. 8. troops until the previous May, when the
troops were ordered to other points, and the government
property leftin charge of one Kdward Giddings, the keeper
of the light house, at that point.

THE LAST OF MORGAN.

When Bruce, King, and two others with Morgan, ar-
rived at the fort they were joined by Giddings and all went
across the river in the ferry boat to the Canada shore, but
not finding the parties they expected returned to this side
and Morgan was put into the magazine, within the fors,
and locked up. The old magazine had been in its day a
massive structure with walls of seven to eight fect of solid
mausonry, but had become at the time Morgan was confined
there, as well as the fort, very much delapidated.

FINAL DISAPPPARANCE OF MORGAN.

By the testimony in the trials that took place afterward
there can be no reasonable doubt that Morgan was taken,
either by his own will' or 'by force, to this magazine and
there confined, but what became of him, how he was dis-
posed of, or how he disposcd of himself, no aunthentic
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account has ever been known or divulged to the public, and
the mystery is just as great now as it was forty-six years
ago. If th@re were any who did know, and it is hardly
possible otherwise, they have or will let the secret die with
them. It is most probable in some manner he ceased to
live, although there are thousands of instances of persons
in his situation, and of his standing, who have wished to
leave the impression of their death that they might emi-
grate or transmigrate and come out unknown, and un-
questioned, under another name, and to enact another part
in life. . .

' REPORTS, RUMORS AND THEORIES.

For two or three years reports and rumors were now
and then circulated in the newspapers, that ’\Iowan had
bheen seen and re.coomzed in Canada, living under an as-
sumed name—then he was located in some country in
Europe, in Mexico, California, and other parts of the world.
It was positively asserted at one time that Morgan had
been actually found, and was living as a high dignitary in
Turkey in 1831, where he had become a Maitre &’ Ecole
to a class of Oriental Musselmen at Smyrna, and was teach-
ing the English and French languages to the Sultan’s offi-
cials. Even the vessel in which he had sailed from the
United States was given as the “Brig Minerva, owned by
Western, of Duxbury, Mass. The Captain’s name was
Martin Waterman.” In the “National Freemason,” of 1867,
this report is republished as a probable solution of the
Morgan mystery. But we should hardly suppose that any
intelligent person would for a moment have been deceived
by such an évident absurdity. Morgan must have been
from all accounts, when he disappeared, over fifty years of

age, and had never received anything more thén the simple
4
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rudiments of an English education. It would therefore b«
the height of folly to suppose that he conld in four years
have learned the Turkish language, and qualified bimself to
teach even the English language, to say nothing about the
Freuch of which he did not probably know the first accent.
In July, 1829, oue Ezra Sturges Anderson, of Hollowell,
Maiune, published over his own signature a statement that he,
in the previous April, had met Morgan at “Mt. Deseret
Island,” in the Gulf of St. Lawrence—that he had known
him in 1825, and that he could not be mistaken, as he had
a conversation with him, and that Morgan told him he had
been living in  Newfoundland—that Miller had in his
hands money belonging to him to the a.sount of $20,000,
and that if he did not remit to him soon he would return
to Batavia, ete. )

‘There was but little credit given to *such statements,
whether made over the signatures of individuals, or having
no particular paternity. Many were probably invented
by some joker, knowing that the public excitement was at
such a pitch that the most improbable story would attract
attention. But there were no lacking of those who believed
that Morgan got himself kidnapped, taken to the frontier,
and then safely departed the country, leaving the impression
behind that he had been wurdered, in order to get up the
very excitement which followed, to enhance the sale of his
hook. '

But this was not the general impression. The pnblic
which was familiar with all the circumstances had an abid-
jnug conviction that he was murdered; even among the
fraternity, who held the institution in great veneration,
there were not a few who admitted that he had been put
out of the way by indiscreet and had members of the
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‘

Order; and that if such was the case, they were not only
base criminals by the civil law, but had heinously violated
cvery principle of masonic obligations. And, until there
was an indiscriminating vengeance inaugurated against all
who belonged to the Order, they were as forward as the
most violent opposers, to bring the guilty to justice. The
thousand and one theories in regard to the disposal of
Morgan that were originated by both friends and foes, were
wild and sometimes incredible, yet many of them seemed suf-
ficient to produce conviction. That those who took so
active a part in taking him to Niagara, their high standing
and unblemished reputations in the communities where
they were known, forbade all candid individuals for-a mo-
ment to believe they were guilty of murder, but under the
intense excitement and fury of the persecution of every-
body connected’ with masonic bodies, reason was over-
set, and the fanatici8m of the hour was their only excuse
for their violence. This many of them acknowledged after
the excitement wus over. But while the excitement was in
progress this class could not be made even to admit of a
possibility that Morgan was not horribly murdered and his
body sunk in the Niagara river or the adjacent waters
of Lake Ontario. The theory among most of them was
that he was kept a close prisoner in the magazine from the
night of the 13th of September until the 20th of the same
month, w1thout much or any food or water; that at the meet-
ing of masons for the installation of a chapt,er at Lewiston,
on the 14th, the subject of his disposal was discussed—by
some it was contended that this meeting was held for no
other purpose than to consider how he should be put out of
the way—that it was solemnly agreed there that he should
be put to death, and all the details arranged to hide the



theory, we say, was the one most helieved by the opponents
of masonry during the excitement, although many others
were formed and reiterated among all classes of people still
more ridiculous,  That several hundred respectable Free-
masons, who were present at the Lewiston installation,
could unanimously conspire, plan and execute a bheinous
murder of a human heing, it is strange that so many could
have honestly believed.  But undoubtedly they did, and
were so lirmly convineed of its truth that they would nmot
listen or permit it to be doubted.  Yet if they had reflected
a moment they must have discovered the improbability of
such an enormity, without its ccrtuil{ detection and being
fully brought to light. There were all classes of men, mem-
bers of the fraternity, at the Lewiston installation, and the
meeting had been appointed months before by an official of
the Grand Chapter, when there could have been no know-
ledge of Morgan or his intended book. The meeting was
an ordinary one, common to the Order on like oceasions in
organizing new Chapters, and the usual ceremonies, with
procession, ete., took place. Among that large throng of
Royal Arch Masons, with one single exception, all posi-
tively declared that during the private session the name of
Morgan, or his intended book, was not mentioned, and it
may be easily inferred that not more than four or five knew
that Morgan was confined at }'t. Niagarg, if they had even
cver heard of him at all. If Morgan's death had been de-
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creed and adjudged in that assembly, and his execution
afterwards consummated on the 20th, was it possible for
the deed to have been forever concealed from the public?
Many of those who were at the Lewiston meeting, and were
present at all private sessions of the Lodge and Chapter,
there held, afterwards during the excitement, renounced
masonry, but every one, except Edward Giddings, solemnly
averred the subject was not (mentioned. Had there
been anything of the kind, it is impossible to believe that
it would not have been disclosed, when we remember with
what zeal the Anti-masonic committee labored to prove that
the horrible tragedy of murder was there arranged.

On the other hand, the theory of those who still cher-
ished the principle of masonry, as well as'those who were
not masons but were opposed to the persecution of the
Order for the misdeeds of a few misguided members, was
that a great outrage’against law had been committed, for
which the perpetrators deserved condign punishment.—
They were divided. however, as to whether an actual mur-
der had been committed—many prominent and influential
masons believed as firmly as the Anti-masons that Morgan
had been murdered, but knew that the Order, or anything
more than a few members of it, were not guilty of the enor-
mous crime, while the anties charged the whole fraternity as
accessories. Others believed that the whole conspiracy
and abduction was gotten up by Miller and his confederates,
to stamp the impress of truth upon the pretended disclos-
ures of Morgan, to add to the sale of the work, and that
Giddings was one of their tools, and who shared in the
profits of the venture. But all was speculation and the
truth has never been made public, ‘We will give tlie opin-
ions of two distinguished masons, made up long after the



stateu
during tha | ana who ¢
ing any members or the institution from

Dr. J. W. S, Mitchell, P. G. M. ot M ouri, ms “His-
tory of Free-masonry, and Masonic Digest,” th 1 sums up
his opinion of the Morgan affuir:

“Fhat William Morgan was murdered, we sincerely
believe, and that one or more masons were concerned, and
participated in the hellish deed, we have no reason to doubt.
But for what purpose? Was it to defend, or protect ma-
sonry from the influence of a book, a copy of which counld
be had for a few pennies, in nearly all the bookstores of
England and Ameriea? No; buat for the sole purpose of
putting money in their purse! What if rumor did say that
Morgan was about to publish an erpose of masonry, we
doubt whether any honest mason was permitted to see the
original copy, whether manuseript or the book Jachin and
Boaz, and hence the masgons could not know what was about
to he published, and surely no sane man would suffer him-
self to be guilty of murder, upon a bhare suspicion of
treachery. I any view we can take of the subject, we ean
find no reason to fix the crime of Morgan’s murder upon
any except those who were base enough to participate with
him in the scheme, and who sought money as the reward of
their villainy!”

Dr. Rob. Morris, well known throughout the Western
States as a distinguished instructor and masonic author,
thus furnishes his conclusions of “Who Killed Morgan:”

“Our own surmise, which, after a eareful perusal of
all the testimony, and much questioning of the remaining
actors in the abduction who still survive, may perhaps be
a8 good ay any other, is that Morgan was abundantly sup-
plied with mnoney by those who had expended so much and
run such risks to separate him from Miller and his confed-
erates, and that he was assisted to pass into Canada, the
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scene of his former adventures, where among a rough and
lawless population, he met the fate likely to befall a drunken
boasting tellow, whose pockets were sufficiently well lined
to render him a desirable prey.”

We might add another theory of a mason who' was
familiar with all the circumstances, and is at least as reas-
onable as any other. It is this: That Morgan agreed, as
positively affirmed by those engaged in his abduction, to be
carried to Canada away from Miller and his partners, who
he claimed had not acted honorably with him, and that with
the promise of being helped into a good business in Canada,
where Miller could not find him, he being as anxious to go
as those misguided Masons were that he should; that cer-
tain zealous Canadian masons received him and passed
him along to Quebec, and there shipped him on a man of
war, or perhaps a merchant vessel bound to some distant
land, and that he either died a natural death, or fell over-
hoard and was drowned at sea before the vessel returned,
and having been registered under an assumed name was
never heard of more by those who had known him. This
of course is all speculation, but is entitled to just as much
credit as any other theory which has ever before been
published.

We will now proceed to narrate events that occurred
after Morgan disappeared.

THE PUBLIC INQUIRE “WHERE IS MORGAN?”

The first inquiry came from Batavia where Morgan had
resided and where his family still lived. The mystery
attending his departure—the circumstance of his having
net been heard from—the attempted mobbing of Miller’s of-
fice, and the partial incendiary burning of the same a few
days after, and rumors afloat that he had forcibly been taken
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to Niagara and there murdered, excited an interest in the
people of Batavia. and very properly and justly made an
investigation necessary.

With a view to ascertain the circumstances in relation
to Morgan’s being taken from the jail in Canandaigua, an
agent was sent thither to make inquiries. A number of
atfidavits were procured which established the fact appar-
ently that Morgan was arrested in violation of law after
his discharge from prison on the 12th of September, and
against his will, conveyed from thence in a carriage, pre-
pared for that purpose, by force, to the Niagara frontier.

Here was the starting point for the furious excitement
which followed. Reports and rumors in exaggerated ‘orms
continued to reach Batavia until it was the popular beuet
that Morgan had been murdered in cold blood. “The
thunders of popular indignation began to roll. It was at
first in low and solemn murmurs, but destined in a short
time to increase in power. It emitted as yet no sparks,
because no particular object had yet been selected on which
its bolts copld descend. The inquiry everywhere was
made, “Where is Morgan?” but no answer had been given.

THE FIRST MEETING.

A public meeting was called at Batavia on the 4th of
October for the purpose of making some arrangements in
order to ascertain his fate. Mr. Henry Brown, an attorney-
at-law, at Batavia, N. Y., who was one of the active parti-

" cipants in this meeting, soon after wrote: “It was a solemn
and impressive scene. A citizen of this free land had been
taken by violence and confined without authority, in some
solitary place, or conveyed by force without the United
States to parts unknown, or had fallen beneath some mur '
derer’s arm, and no information relative to his destiny or
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fate had yet been received. The cn’cmnatance% that he was
poor—that he was dissolute—that he was in some respects
unprincipled, and therefore held in but little estimation by
the commuanity, gave to the meeting, in the eye of the
‘philanthropist, additienal interest. Had he been a man of
rank, of consideration, or of fortune, he would have been
tollowed—he would have been rescued, and if necessary, an
army would have been raised at his call, and awaited his
command. The wrongs of an individual once rocked the
battlements of Troy, and made the throne of Priam tremble
to _its base. But the unfortunate -and dcwr'uled Morgan
was suffered to he carried off under circumstances taleu-
lated to excite the strongest suspicions with scarce an
inquiry.”

Mr. Brown, although not himself a mascn, avers that
at this meeting, of those who took an active part in' the
‘proceedings, that some of the more respectable Free-ma-
sons were the foremost to institute an investigation, and
declared that if any members of the Order had been guilty of
kidnapping and murdering Morgan, or whoever had com-
nmitted such an outrage, should be punished to the full ex-
tent of the law, and he then adds: “I regret that I cannot in
justice forbear to remark that a number of the most con-
spicuous Anti masons. in the county: men who became so
long after Morgan’s abduction, and who have since partici-

. pated in the rewards and honors of a triumphant party, de-
signedly abstained from this meeting, nor can 1 in justice
to my own feelings, suffer this occasion to pass without ap-
plaudmg in the highest terms, the candor, good sense, and
above all, the .holy fervor which appeared to inspire and
expand the bosoms of the great mass of which ‘it was com-
posed. A writer of eminence, I believe Mr. Burke, observed

b
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books and “Monitors™ of the Cratt in common use, of which
the public was as familiar outside as the initiated inside.
"This was claimed by those who wished to have it so, as an
undisputed evidence that it was a ¢rue exposition, ald with-
out further thought declared it to be established, and people
might as well question the authenticity of the Bible as
«Morgan’s Book!” A
LEROY CONVENTION.

A few months after Morgan's Book was hefore the
public a number ot Free-masons, either from mercenary or
other motives resolved to join with the Anti-masons to
break down the institution. Elder David Barnard seems
to have been their leader. They assembled at Leroy in
a convention on the 19th of February, 1827, and then de-
clared their renunciation and their connection with the
Order. Elder Barnard in his “Light on Masonry™ states
that there were forty. masons present at this meeting—other’
authorities say there were not more than ten or twelve,
and that some of these had been expelled for unmasonic¢
conduct, and that if forty individuals took part in this
meeting the majority were not and never had been masons,
They solemnly enacted that Free-masonry was a wicked
institution and that it had murdered Morgan, and was capa-
ble of doing all sorts of ahominations if permitted to exist.
They made arrangements for the publishing of a revised edi-
tion of all the pretended expositions of masonry that had
been produced for the past two hundred years, appointed
committees for a general crusade against the institution,
and adjourned to meet again on the fourth of July.

The popular feeling was now ripe for the exc’tement
which followed, whicli has scarcely a parallel in this or any
civilized country. ~Anti-masonic committies had beea
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formed in tho several (mmtws, mth tho avowed object to
discover the mystery of Morgan's exit and bring the guilty
to punishment. These committees met and commenced
their work at Lewiston in* March, 1827, and a complete
organization was effected to drive the masonic institution
from the land.

This committee caused notices to be published contain-
ing statements of facts and circumstances, so far as ascer
tained, and desired all who possessed any knowledge or in
formation whatever in relation to either the abduction or
murder of Morgan. to communicate the same without delay
to some one of the committee. A request was also sent to

sovernor Clinton, desiring his aid. It was promptly

granted and a proclamation immediately issued, offering =
reward of $2,000, and requiring the aid of every law-abid-
ing citizen, and granting pardon to accomplices, that should
give evidence in the case.

On the other hand the masonic bodies everywhere lis-
claimed all knowledge or approval of the outrage, and the
Grand Royal Arch Chapter of New York at its Annual
Convocation in February, 1827, in which more than one
hundred subordinate Chapters were represented, passed.
unanimously, the following resolution:

“ResoLvED, By this Grand Chapter, that we, its mem-
bers, individually, and as a body, do disclaim all knowledge
or approbation of proceedings in relation to- the abduction
of Williain Morgan, and that we disapprove of the same as
a violation of the majesty of the laws, and an infringement
on the rights of personal liberty secured to every citizen of
our free and happy republic.”

Similar resolutions were passed in most of the subor-

sters in the State, and also by many of the blue
o avowed their most solemn condemnation of all




ABDUCTION OF MORGAN. . 33

vslm had been engaged in such unlawtul pmcee(lmas Some
of them at once instituted proceedings to summon their mem-
bers who were charged as having been connected with the
abduction, and the highest penalty known to masonic law
expulsion—was inflicted in several cases. These meas-
ures, however, were scouted as insincere, and the Anti-ma-
sons would listen to nothing save the centire destruction of
the institution.

POLITICAL ANTI-MASONRY,.

The excited state of the public mind was now seized
upon by certain ambitious and unscrupulous politicians to
organize a political party whereby they hoped to ride into
power. Through the seceders’ convention, at Leroy, and
the Anti-masonic committee, as organized at Lewiston, the
germ of a powertul political party was formed. Thuarlow
Weed, then editor of a small newspaper, at Rochester,
changed its name to the “Anti-Masonic Inquirer,” and
became a most prominent and active leader. The great
talents and energy of Weed as a jouranalist and political
leader, soon brought the organization into complete work-
ing order. He was assisted by many of the most effective
and talented men of Western New York, among whom were
‘Wm. H. Seward, Francis Granger, John C. Spencer, Myron
Holley, Frederick Whittlesey, Robert S. Rose, Solomon
Southwick, Albert H. Tracy, and others. The plan was to
arouse every passion in the masses and embitter them
Against the institution of Free-masonry and all secret
societies. For this purpose they determined to make the
most out of the Morgan affair. They proclaimed that Mor-
gan was abducted pursuant to the requirements of Masonry.
They asserted, and the assertion was reiterated, that the
whole frateruity were chargeable with shedding his blood.
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Observer,” at Albany.,  The others were mostly su
to and mere echoes of these master journalists,  /
men of the spirit of these leaders the followin
from Southwick will give an idea with what litc
they furnishe:l the people:

“Anti-masonry sprung from the throne ol
under His Almighty wingv, it will conquer ‘Hell
piece,” and redeem our country from vile slavery ai
chains—from eternal disgrace; frow everlasting
degradation. The man who hesitates to suppol
cause, stabs his country and dishonors his creator
such man be trusted—let him live neglected an
pitied and despised, and let no monument tell hi
point to the spot where his recreant ashes pollut
that gave him birth.”

These worthies—Weed and Southwick—Tlil
brothers continued giving tone to the Anti-masc
and shaping all the policy of the party, until Wee
to Albany in 1830 and took charge of the Journa
and Sowthwick soon quarrelied,-and Weed, drove |
condjutor from the tripod.

THE LAW INVOKED.

Warrants were issued and trinls institute
number, and each succeeding day brought to lig
brood of stories of violence, blood and murder
one of these trials was going on at Batavia aga
one who was supposed to have heen connected w
fair, with a hundred or more witnesses subpaenae
was set atloat that Morgan's body had been fo
would be preseut at the place of trial, while e
tale that could possible inflame the passions of
tude, wag invoked and set afloat. Like a secthing
the upheaving of public opinion was aroused g,
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pe rp«trntmq of tlw uutnur(- and their nssociate . By thas
time the excitement had arrived at the piteh of causing
Anti-masonic associations, and the political leaders were
happy.  Town meetings were ealled in the several counties,
and a most formidable organization was ofected.”

The Anti-masonic committee went to work to rake the
Niagnra river and a portion of the waters of Lake Ontario,
[t became absolutely necessary for them to find Morgan's
body or no convietion for murder could be had, nor the ex
citernent prolonged,  This business was conducted  with
great zeal for some months, hut no Morgan was found, vet

A BODY WAS FOUND

near the mouth of OQak Orchard Creek on the shore of
Lake Ontario, which appesred to have been left there by
the waves,  Being in a Iwrh state of decomposition, it was
buried, Tt soon spread thronghout the surrounding coun
try that it was Morgan's hody.  The Aunti-masonic com-
mittee, headed by Weed and Whittlesey, of Rochester, re-
paired to the place of burial. The body was disinterred.
Mre. Morgan was conveyed from DBatavia to Oak Orchard,
and other witnesses subpasnned from even nareatey distance,
The body having heen dead, as it was afterward proved,
more than six months, it was in a poor condition to be
identified, except perhaps, by its clothing, teeth, hair
or height,  In neither of these did it correspond nor resem
ble Morgan,  Mrs. Morgan at once declared that the
clothes were not the ones her husband wore when he left
Batavin,  But the Anti-masonic committee were determined
to have it prononnced Morgan’s, A jury of inquest was en-
pannelled and witneasces examined, when thirteen persons
were sworn who all deposed that they knew it to be the
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wuhlm the nthm witnesses, but was much less decide
her opinion.

The jury brought in a verdict that it was the mo
remains of Williain Morgan, and that he came to his ¢
by drowning, Al doubts now were declared removed f
the public mind.  The multitude tlocked to the funeral
cession,  The body was removed to Batavin under
auspices of the Anti-masonic committee, and a pomy
funeral held, after which it was again interved.  “The ¢t
vengeance ngainst the masons was now on the breeze,
the ghost of Morgan was said to walk.”

But the stnr} spread and the newspapers carried
intelligence even to the other side of the Lorder, unt
reached the ears of the real widow of the drowned man.
man by the name of Timothy Monroe, living at New
Canada, in attempting to cross the Niagara viver on the
the spring previous, had heen drowned. A deseriptio
the clothes found ~on the supposed body of Morgan,
duced Mrs. Mouroe to believe it was the body of
drowned hushand.  She therefore in company with s
friends repaired to Batuvia and demanded a re-investigal
The ill-fated hody which was not allowed to remain
in the waters where the soul had left it, was not
mitted to lie in peace in earth, and was again disinte
At thig second inquest, it was most irrefragibly prc
shat it was the identical body of Timothy Mouroe, and
that of Morgan. Mrs. Mouroc specified before seeing t
certain articles of dress which she made with her
hands, and which were found exactly as she stated.
great number of the particulars specified on oath by
the first jury proved to be totally fulse, and the second

6



and Whittlesey had viewed the body, they at once discoy-
ere i that it was not that of Morgan. both of whom were
well acquainted with bim, and knew yery well that he was
hald on the top of the head, and never wore whiskers,
This body bad quite a tuft of hair wlere Morgan wuae
bald, and also on one side of his face a hushy whisker, the
other one, from the putrid state of the flesh wan gone, evi-
dently having been washed away by the water,  Weed and
Wihittlesey saw that §f the hody was seen by those who had
known Morgan, or by his wite, that it would be at once
pronounced not that of Morzan’s and they could wot prove
that a murder had heen committed, [ was reported that
Weed privately mutilated the hody by pulling out the hair
and leaving the scalp and check hare as Morgan’s was be-
‘ore his disappenrance, when he remarked to Whittlesey :
“ft in a yood enonygh Movyan till after election!”  Tu jus-
tice to Mr. Weoed, who is still living: at a good old age. it
should be stated that it is very doubtful it he was guilty of
such a deseeration of the dead. [t was charged against
him, however, by his political opponents, and especially
reiterated by the Albany Argus, after he removed to Albany
in 1830; he silently permitted it to remain uncontradicted
until some ten years afterwards, when Henry () Reilly, then
editor of the Bochester Daily Advertiser, repeated it in the
heat of s political excitement, and Weed immediately com-
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menced a libel suit agaivst the publishers of that paj
laying his damages, it I remember rightly, at $20,000.
case was never hrought to trial, and the detendants n
some kind of a disclaimer which satistied the woun
feelings of Weed.

INSANITY AND FANATICISM.

The atfair of Morgan and the mystery surrounding
fate, was pregnant with wohder from the begining. Du
the highest pitch of excitement there were not wan
people who. carried away by insanity equal to the day
Salem witchcraft. came forward and made confession
murderers. In one case a certain man by the name o
living in Erie county. published a card over his own sj
ture in the papers, confessing with tiie most impo
solem'nit_\', that he himself was the murderer of Mot
for which he supplicated the merey of God and man.
attracted same notoriety, which was perhaps his mc
and was imprisoned, but could not gain a martyr's fam
being hung. The Grand Jury dismissed hin as bel
¢razy fanatic or moon-struck in the upper story.

‘ A man by the name of Sheldon, of very dissolute
intemperate habits, and confined for dept at the time

gan was taken from jail in Cavandaigua, in a public
room, while in a maudlin condition of intoxication, bo
of his being oune ot the abductors and murderers of
gan. He repeated the same story when partially sobel
*was very properly arrested and sent to jail, but abso
refused to divulge who were his accemplices in the ¢
he cfmfessed. He was indicted and tried upan bis owl
feasion, but his friends clearly proved. am alibi for, hin
sppeared .that om the night of Morgan’s abduction h
in a debauched condition, in bed and in a drunken s



crime charged in the indictment, nor did he himselt believe
him guilty, yet as he had boasted that he knew about the
erime, and the only apology he had offered to the court and
jury was the ungracious one of being a “liar and drunkard”
therefore the court sentenced him to three months confine-
ment in the county jail, not for abduction, but for lyving
and drunkenness.

Notwithstanding all the pretended expositions of the
secerets of Free-masonry published by Miller, and the sup-
plemental publications of Giddings and Bernard, the minds
of the vulgar were not satisfied—they believed the institu-
tion much worse than represented. The phantasies of in-
sanity knew no bounds, and the horrible stories of blood and
murder no end. Many became the mere puppets of delu-
sion and believed every horrible tale that was told. Amidst
this state of insane ravings there appeared in the streets of
Canandaigua, a crazy mountebank that for audacity and
idiotcy scarcely ever had a parallel in human lunacy. He
had been an itinerant preacher of some sort of religious
views, but, I believe, never a licensed minister of any sect.
To give some idea of his fertile imagination and crazy
deliriums, we subjoin, in substance, one of his harangues as
near a8 it can now he remembered. He commenced by

- saying he bad years gone by, joined the Free-masons and
he proposed to give his -gaping audience 2 eubstantia)
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account of all the doings of that institution, and then
branched off by reciting sundry mysterious circumstances
which befell him, as a member of the fraternity, that had
not been developel by Morgan ov other pretended impoesters
of the institution. He said that as soon as one was initiated
he was “inspired by the devil,” which in his case was as fol-
lows: As soon as he was let into the dark secrets of the
Lodge an elder mason began to practice pranks of a very
disagreeable quality upon his person, whereupon, being
moved by an imp of hell, which the presiding master had
engaged for his protection, he straightway, with one of the
swords which are always ready for use in the Lodge, sev-
ered his right leg from his body, and standing upon h.s
left, he gave the old mason who had excorcised him such a
castigation with it that he was constrained to flee from his
sight in affright. He then returned the leg to its place,
and no lameness was the consequence. This devil stood
by him a long time, but he having revealed to a friend
some of the mysteries of masonry, the imp gave him over
to the Lodge to be dealt with according to masonic law.
He was “abducted” and strangled to death. But the devil
again proved his friend and restored him to animation, and
took him to Europe, where his adventdres were of a similar
character as those of Baron Munchausen. Suffice it to say
he at last had his eyes opened like St. Paul, and he deter-
mined to get rid of the devil and Free-masonry, which by
constant prayers and performing numerous penances he was
enabled to do. He was then performing his mission of de-
stroying the power of the devil on earth and when that was
done the hydra-headed monster of masonry would fall with
it. His ravings proved quite a performunce to a fun loving
crowd; and the roars of laughter.which: frequently:inter-



Several years later he went about the country preaching on
some other hobhy he had adopted, and the author heard
him deliver one of his discourses i a country school house
some ten years later which was o mixture of sense and
nonsensey but mainly orthodox.  He showed then no signs
of insanity except it be that at the close he made another
appointment to preach in the same house tive years and a
half from that very day, and it is said that he did appear
ut the appointed timo and deliver a very sensible sermon,

Many ludicrous and humorous scenes took place in
various parts of the country where the fanaticism of Anti-
masonry prevailed,  Some of the fraternity who were fond
of joking frequently played sharp practice, and many an-
ecdotes are related, witty sayings and retorts made, that
¢ould not fail to raise the risibilities of the most staid, and
upset the gravity of the most solemn. A very flne old gen-
tleman in the City of Rochester, a member of tho Society
of Friends, was very explicit in charging the entire body of
Free-masons with Morgan’s murder, and avowed his belief
that evarv member was guilty. Ho was one day descant-
ting on his favorite subject in presenco of one of the frater-
nity, when she following dialogue oscurred:

Mason~—*“But, my dear sir, you are ungenerous in cen-
suring our whole Onder for the faults of tho few.” '

Quaker—Thou ‘art wrong, thy wholo fratoraity de-
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serve to be censured for not turning the sinful out from
among ye—why don't thee get rid of the wicked. if ye arc
not all wicked?™”

Masox—"Why, my friend, if your story is to be
believed we did imost effectnally rid ourselves of one of
them, but you anties kicked up such a 1 of a row
about it, that we thought it best to let the others remain as
they were ™

A laughable story of Morgan’s abduction and murder
was told and perhap- believed in some rural districts where
wmany horrors were told and distorted accounts had gained
credence. It was this: Morgan sat in his back room at
Batavia late at night writing out his disclosures. Being
weary lie had lain aside his pen and was regaling himself
with a pot of spruce beer and a dutch pipe. when he dis
covered a pair of boots descending the chimney—presently
a pair of legs made their appearance. Morgan was fright-
cned—Santa Claus did not enter houses only in December.
and this was September. In a few minutes one Jubelo
Smith, well known to Morgan as a mason, stood before him
covered with soot, as the chimney had not been cleaned for
Years. At first Morgan took him for a more important
personage, and thought his time had come. But Smith
brushed himself a little, and Morgan discovered “it was
only an agent of his sulphurous majesty.”” Smith immedi-
ately “hoodwinked™ Morgan and fastened a“cable tow™ about
his waist. Two other agents of the devil, named Jubela
Johnson and Jubuluin Thompson, were on the roof, who in-
stantly pulled him up the chimney feet foremost. Smith
folowed—how he got up. no matter, but it was all done in
a few moments. A balloon with a small steam engitie, fed
by brimstone, was ready into which Morgan was forced—



4501, Yhere ey
some red herrings.  Morgan
would not listen to his prayer, hut toreea OWI
his throat until he hecame stupidly intoxicat a which
condition he was despatehed,
REFLECTIONS,

It takes a philosophical mind to reconcile the mad
frenzy that seized apon a majority of the people in Western
New York in their war upon Free-masonry. It appears
strange how s0 inveterate a pergecution in the nineteenth
century could have prevailed against individuals and a
society that had existed at least since the earliest date of
English history, and which had on its register such glorious
und illustrious names as George Washingtou, Benjamin
Franklin, and nearly every other renowned and revered pat-
riot of our patriotic revolution and who had not at that time
lain in their graves long enongzh to have been forgotten, or
the r exemplary and useful lives »o remote as not to be the
theme of praise on every tongue, It was the same sort of
spirit which Sheated the tougs of St. Dominick, invented
thumb screws, and burned and hung witches; the same
that cansed Pagans w persecute Catholic Christians, Catho-
lics to persecute Protestants, and Prostestant Episcopalians
to persecute Protestunt Puritans, and Protestant Puritans
o persecute Protestant Quakers aud other non-Puritan
Protestant sects. Stravge indeed at that age of enlight
ment that any order of things, could bave aroused such
a proscriptive crusade agaiust a society which had for
80 many centuries been honored, because a few members
may have, under s mistaken zeal or misguided notions of
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masonic obligations, varrivd nﬂ‘ a (-ortain 1
iuference that he had been murdeved. It
less strange had the people believed in ghe
haunted houses; in signs, omens and dea
particularly that the devil was a wonderful
age, entering into old women, negresses an
ness, and there playing all sorts of wick
humanity. But the poople generally beli
bughears, vet a certain class showed all
malice of demons and wonld have sung pe
execution of a mason, as the old Puritans of
when a harmless, innocent girl was hung
and carth because she had been accused «
folly of witcheraft!

ANTI-MASONRY IN THE CHURC!

Soon after Weed and his associates ha
fcal Anti-masonic party, and it had becon
land, the question of sceret societies bece
many of the churches, in the Jocality wh
party had bBeen organized, The question
institntion as Free-masonry consistent w
and could a consistent and true supporter
same time be a Free-mason?  These questi
the Presbyterian, Congregational and B
The Methodists were more conservative, ar
societies for some time resisted all attem,
subject to distract their eouncils, But it
tion of time—as tho excitement increased i
for any of the- evangelical charches to av
tion, © A large proportion df the Meshodis
members of the fraternity, many of them «
their zeal lu giving a moral tone to the:

7
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Lodges, as well as their nnselfish devotion to the provaga-
tion of the religion to which they had consecrated their
lives and energies. The same may be said of many Bap-
tist clergymen hut they were not so numerous as those of
the Methodist. In the Episcopal church, always conser-
vative, but little agitation was allowed to disturb its har-
mony. Among the Presbyterian and Congregationa} clergy,
it was rare that a mason could be found, and the excite-
ment had scarcely commenced against masoury before they
began to denounce the institution in the most bitter and
extravagant terms from the pulpit, and joined with the
political Anti-masons in a determination to exterminate the
Order. Among the members of these churches there were
some who belonged to the Lodges and in many instances
the main stay and support of their respective societies.
But as the Anti-masonic influence increased, numbers of
these yielded to the clamor and renounced masonry for the
sake of peace, and the apple of discord seemed never to
cease. Nearly all the members in the Baptist churches
yielded to the first demand and became the most violent,
and those who remained were cited before an ecclesiastical
court, and were expelled as unworthy members of Christ's
church, and denied the right of communion. Other
churches followed and the religious denominations I have
mentioned were soon purged of all taint of Free-masonry
in Western New York. .

It is a little amusing to read the records of some of
the church trials which took place. When a brother was
known to belong to the institution, he was immediately
cited before the Presbytery or other judicial power of the
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he was asked if he was a Frec-mason. If he replied in the
affirmative, charges were preferred against hifi and he put
upon his trial. The witnedses against him were usually
seceding masons who were asked their opinions of the evil
influence of the Order, and among this class, willing wit-
nesses were generally found to testify all that the prosecu-
tors desired. Sometimes an honest, conscientious man
would not testify as it was expected. As a specimen of
these church trials I subjoin the testimony of two seceding
masons, brought before a Baptist church in Danville,
against some contumacious member who refused to dissolve
his connection with the Ordor. The first are the questions
propounded and the answers of Rev. Henry Jones, who was
pastor of a Baptist Society and had renounced masonry on
the demand of his congregation, that peace might remain in
his church: C

“Did you while & member of the Lodge consider the
oaths you had taken, consistent with your duties as a chris-
tian minister?”

Ans.—“I certainly did.” o

“Did you not consider yourself bound to exccute'the
penalty of death upon a member who should disclose the
secrets of masonry?” . ‘

Ans.—“I am not willing to own that I, was ever at
heart a murderer.” [On the question being repeated and a
definite answer requested, the answer was—*{ did not.”

“Did you suppose from anything you saw or heard that
your brethren with whom you associated, felt that they
oughtrto- take:the life of sy one that should disclose?”

..+ Amser—~tNa never.” o oo v e
+#Digd you er your, brethren gonsjder }Yo\qrselx'eq bound
o vate for a broﬁher to any office 1 preference to another
of équal 'qualifications? "’ o B
0 Ats. - did not. ' g bee T e
' “Did yots ednsider yourseld bound, or-did the members
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of the Lodge consider themselves bound to screen from
justice a brother who had committed a crime which exposed
him to punishment by the civil law?”

Ans.—*I never did.”

“Did you ever hear any religious tenets or political
principles discussed in the Lodge?”

Ans.—*No. On the contrary it was strictly enjoinel
that no such discussion could be allowed.”

At the same church trial another seceding mason, by
the name of Chisholin, who was a candidate on the Anti-
masonic ticket for oflice, was interrogated in like manuer,
and gave auswers directly opposite to the Rev. brother, as
follows:

“Did vou consider yourself while a member of the
Lodge houud by your oath to execute death upon a member
who should disclose the secrets of masonry?”’

Ans—I did.”

“Did you consider all the members bound by the same
oath to take the life of him who should disclose?”

Ans.—“I did.” :

“Did you consider yourself hound to vote for a brother
to any office in preference to another of equal gnalification?”

Ans.—*I certainly did.”

“Did you consider yourself bound to screen from jus-
tice a brother who had committed a crime which exposed
him to punishment by the civil law?”

Ans.—«I did.”

“Did you ever hear any religions tenets or political
principles discussed in the Lodge?’

Ans.—“Very often.”

Such was the conflicting testimony by which it was at-
tempted by synods and ecclesiastic courts to draw out the
proceedings of the Lodges, and generally with about the
same result as given by the above two witnesses. Those
who could say the most about the institution were believed
by those who wished to favor the political . psrty - then
becoming so potent.
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In some cases this proscriptive course was the means -
of entirely breaking up large and influential churches. 1
might mention one where it ended in the disruption of a
very flourishing Baptist society, whicn worshipped in a
handsome church edifice and was one of the most prosper-
ous religious communities in Ontario county. In this con-
gregation there were many wealthy and respectable mem-
bers who were not only devoted to the Baptist mode of
worship but were also prominent and zealous Free-masons.
No sooner had the fanaticism against masonry appeared,
than the pastor, who was an eloquent preacher, but an in-
tolerant bigot, began to thunder his anathemas against the
Order, aud proclaimed that every person who did not im-
mediately renounce his connection with such a “hell-begot-
ten” society was destined to everlasting damnation, and no
after repentance could atone for his wickedness. About
one-half of the members sustained the pastor in his war
upon the institution, and a lively time and many disgrace-
ful scenes took place at several church meetings. The
anties, however, aided by political considerations and dutside
influence gained the day, and the masons were all expelled.
Those who were left in the church were either unable or
unwilling to bear the whole expense of keeping up the
pastor’s salary, and insisted on a reduction of his pay,
which he declined to submit to, and amother disgraceful
.quarrel was gotten up, which ended by another division
that completely broke up the society. The church edifice
was sold to the Universalists and is still owned and eoccu-
pied by that denomination.

But it need not be inferred that the Universalists were
exempt from the infection which distrected. the .osher de-
nominations. Nearly all the Universalist preachers were




notable case was that of the venerable Father Stacy, an
eloquent and unblemished Universalist preacher, who had
long been the pastor of a large society at Hamilton, Madi-
son county. A few of his most influential members be-
came the most bitter partisans against masounry, and refused
to commune with their pastor because he was a mason.
These members at a church meeting, demanded that he
should renounce the Order, or give up his position as pas-
tor, as they said they “could not and would not hear the
gospel preached by a man who belonged to a society which
they believed had its origin in heathenish darkness: *
* % and which has been supported by blood and mur-
der from its commencement up to the present time.”—
Father Stacy replied at some length in an eloquent defence
of the institution, in which he said: “Do not ask me to re-
nounce masonry, for I will net do it. And I'mow say once
for all, yeu have no business with it—it is a matter exclu-
sively between my own conscience and my God; and I feel
no accountability to you on the subject. I will enter into no
compact with you about it, nor agree not to sit in a Lodge.
I will' do so if I please, and as o‘ten as I please, without
asking your liberty. I will have my liberty in this respect:
and while I accord to you equal liberty, I beg of you never |
againte let this subjent be broughtintothe chunch.,” Butthe,
fanatics were not appeased, and Mr. Stacy voluntarily sev-
ered his.connection with the society and.remaoved %o th%

i
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West. A few years after, when the excitement had lost its
power, his persecutors begged him to return, acknowledging
their error and their folly.

Similar occurrences took place in a good many places
where flourishing churches were destroyed which took many
long years for them to recover their lost ground.

POLITICAL PROSCRIPTION OF MASONS.

As soon as the Anti-masonic party had gained the
ascendancy in Western New York, and elected the town and
county officers, a general proscription of all who belonged
to the masonic Order, who would not renounce their adhe-
sion to it, were stricken from the jury list and were allowed
no rights which Anti-masons “were bound to respect.”
The Anti-masonic partisans affected so firmly to believe
that Morgan was murdered, that any man who dared to ex-
press any doubt on the subject, was looked upon as dis-
honest. A Mason’s integrity, no matter how well it may
have been established, was now questioned. It was enough,
as some of the leaders asserted, that they knew the whole
fraternity were accessory to that murder, and there were
fanatics enough to believe them, “when there was presented
to them a blank deposition stating that some renegade said
so, the question was in their view settled, although the man
who may have pretended to say so, was admitted to be an
infamous scoundrel, who would not be credited in a court
of justice.” . .

Hundreds of masons now renounced their further ad-
hesion to the institution and were immediately received
into the open ranks of the Anti-masonic party, and many
of them rewarded with offices. Those who still maintained
their faith in the institution ceased to make any further
efforts to justify the institution. They still claimed that
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they would not believe that Morgan was murdered by the
masons until evidence of the fact was produced. That an
outrage was committed upon his person in his abduction.
an outrage no less against the principles of masonry than
against the laws of the land, they were free to admit. as
well as to censure, and hoped and trusted that those wio
were engaged in it wonld be made to suffer the punishment
due their crimes. But they said they never would consent
to sce the innocent suffer for the misdeeds of the gnilty.
SUSPENSION OF MASONIC LODGES.

In this state of affairs and the high excitement in the
public mind, it was deemed bhest by the leading masons of
Western New York and elsewhere, to suspend all work or
meetings in masonic bodies where the excitement prevailed.
These suggestions were very generally complied with, and
‘u majority of the Lodges and Chapters surrendered their
charters, jewels, furniture and regalia to the grand bodies
from which their charters had heen granted. There were
some, however, who did not deem it necessary to do so.
uander the prophetic belief that the persecution of their
Order would be only temporary and in a few years masonry
woulld again become the respectable and leading benevo-
lent society it had been. They however suspended all
work, and if they held meetings, they were as secret from
the public eye as their own inner ceremonies. A Lodge
and Chapter in Canandaigua both refused to surrender their
charters, but locked up their hall in which their meetings
had been held, and an incendiary fire burned the building
and all its contents in a short time afterwards. In Roches-
ter, the Lodge, Chapter and Commandery also declined for
a long time to surrender their organizations, secretly met
and held their meetings, but were finally compelled to yield
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to the clamor of the mob. In 18 ) the\ returned thclr
charters, and masonry ceased in that city also for some
vears. In Batavia,” Lockport, Leroy. and nearly all the
prominent villages, the Order yielded upon the first de-
mand.

The organization of Odd Fellowship, which at this
time was attracting some attention, also met with a like op-
position and condemnation from the fanatical zeal of the
hour. Tt wasdeclared that Odd Fellowship was but aunother-
form of masonry, cqually perniciois, equally abhorrent and
abominable, and must be exterminated and driven from the
land. This retarded the growth of that institution for a
number of years, but on its revival it did not meet with that
inveterate opposition which had been exercised against
Free-masonry.

A CHAPTER ON POLITICS.

Early in the year 1827, as before referred to, certain
politiciaus went vigorously to work and organized a power-
{ul political party ostensibly founded on the oppesition to
the institution of Free-masonry, but including opposition to
all other secret. societies. Tt had its birth™ at the conven-
tion at Lewiston in March. 1827, and soon grew to a formi-
dable power. The other political. parties in New York were
the old Republican or Democratic party. and the old Fed-
eral party which had supported and elected DeWitt Clinton
Governor for & number of terms. Western New York had
alvm\'s been .much attached to the federal party, the inhab-
itants_bejng : almost “hO“\ New hlwl'\ndcrs and their de-
S(ondants. Bat, althou«rh Clinton never claimed to be a
Federallst vet he had l)een sllpl)(ntod by that party against
Madx&mn m 1812 for Presidént, ~and owing to'his popularity
as projector ‘6f the Erie Canal, théy ‘could alwdys succeeed

8



neuts, who retorted by ing the regular Republicans
“Buck-tails,” but the Clintonians about this time had adopted
the name of “National Republicans.” The organizers and
leaders of the Anti-masonic payty were mainly old Feder-
alists and had supported Clinton. Clinton was a mason of
a high degree, and was at the time Grand High Priest of
the Royal Arch Chapter of the State, which, of course,
threw him out of the pale of the new synagogue. The
candidates before the people for President were John
Quincy Adams and Andrew Jackson, the former supported
by the National Republicans or Federalists, and the latter
by the Democrats or old line Republicans. 1In the first elec-
tion after the organization (in November, 1827,) Genesee
and a few other counties were carried on pure Anti-masonic
tickets, and a number of Anti-masons were elected to the
State Assembly. On the 11th of February, 1828, Governor
Clinton suddenly died at the Executive Mansion in Albany,
by a stroke of paralysis. It is said that he had previous
to his death declared in favor of Jackson against -Adams,
and if he had lived would have been again elected Gover-
por on the Democratic ticket, and then have received an

appointment in Gen. Jackson’s Cabinet. His death there-
fore was supposed to have had a better influence in aug-

menting the Anti masonic ranks than if he had lived.

In 1828, the Anti-masons nominated Francis Granger
for Governor, but he declined and accepted the nomination
for Lieut. Governor on the National ticket. He did all be



~ ' -
ABDUCTION OF MORGAN. D9

could to induce the anties to drop their State ticket, but a
portion persisted and voted for Solomon~Southwick. In
most of the Western Counties the Anties and Nationals
had large majorities but were beaten in the State by Martin
Van Buren for Governor and Enos T. Throop for Lieut.
Governor, the Jackson candidates. °

In 1829 and 1830 the Anti-masonic party had reached
its acme of power and was only beaten in the State by the
friends of Henry Clay, many of whom voted for Throop, the
administration candidate for Governor.

In 1829 the political Anti-masonic party having cap-
tured all Western New York now sighed like Alexander
the Great for more worlds tu conquer. So they went into
the missionary business. Thurlow Weed was sent to Ver-
mont where he found a congenial soil, and by a coup @’
etat like St. Patrick with the clover leaf, he was eminently
successful. ~Vermont was the only State carried by the
Anti-masonic party, and as long as the party had a distinc-
tive character it was reliable, not an officer could be elected
in the State, for a number of years, who was not an out
-and out member of that party. Whittlesey made a raid on
Pennsylvania, and with the aid of the late Thaddeus
Stevens and other ambitious politicians, made some commo-
tion in the politics of the Old Keystone State. A State
. Convention was held at Harrisburg, and Joseph Ritner, a
staid old Dutchman of Washington county, nominated for
Governor, who received quite a respectable vote at the
ensuing fall election. Stevens succeeded in fanning the
flame to keep the party alive for several years, long after
the party was dead and buried in New York, and in 1835,
by a divigion 1n the Democratic party—running two candi-
‘dates—succeeded {n electing the old. Dutchman, Governor.

-



h6 ABDUCTION OF MORGAN.

thner was an original in his way, and many anecdotes are
told of him, one of which, if not true, is, at least, worth re-
peating. He is represented as a man of some mind, bnt
rather illiterate and without much education. It was re-
ported that he consulted Stevens upon every occasion when
any question came hefore him for action by virtue of his
office. The State had undertaken the building of several
railroads, and having finished a porfion of the main Cen-
tral route, was operating it with horse cars, and a bill passe
the Legislature to purchase ten locomotives to put on the
line, but when it was presented to the Governor, Stevens
happened to be absent from Harrisburgh, and the Governor
had to decide for himself. He was not much in favor of mod-
ern innovations, and was therefore opposed to steam power
succeeding the ancient mode of propelling machinery by
horses and cattle; he therefore unadvisedly vetoed the bill.
Everybody was astonished, as railroads had become very
popular, and this purchase of locomotives was considered a
necessity, the contract having already been made by the
Board of Public Works, of which Mr. Stevens was a mem-
ber. The latter therefore hurried back to Harrisburgh,
and took the Governor to task, and told him he had ruined
his political standing and the party. The old Governor
saw his mistake, but unwilling to own it, devised a plan to
remedy it. He therefore said to Mr. Stevens: “Itells you
what you do, Mr. Stevens; the bill which I vetoes, called
for ten smoke wagons; you go get another bill passed and
make him eleven, den I signs him! Stevens did as sug-
gested and the bill became a law. It was found the line
needed just eleven locomotives to properly equip it.
Jonathan Childs went to Massachusetts and was very
successful in makmg Ant.l-masons, but very httle sucGess



ABDUCTION OF MORGAN. 57

in the way of turning manufacturers and money-grabbers
from their devotion to Henry Clay, who was a Mason, and
then the prospective candidate for President against Jack-
son. Clay was the father of the protective tariff system, and
the Yankees were never known to let politics or religion in-
terfere with their proverbial acquisitiveness for making
money. ) '

John Quincy Adams, having retired from the Presi-
dency on the 4th of March, 1829, returned to his ancestral
domain, at Quincy, in that State, and was still in the vigor
of life and all potent in the politics of Massachusetts. It.
has been already observed that during the canvass of 1828
he had written a letter to the Anti-masonic committee in
New York, which made him a pretty good friend of the
cause. He was very bitter on the masonic institution and
ready to go all length to exterminate the Order, but he was
under too many obligations to his late Secretary of State
to desert him, in the prospective contest to defeat his old
political enemy—Gen. Jackson. Thus while he denounced
masonry and masons, he placed himself in the inconsistent
position of supporting Mr. Clay, a mason, and who had
been Grand Master of Kentucky, for the highest office in
the government. Political Anti-masonry therefore fell still-
born in Massachusetts. Yet there were in 1829 four news-
papers in the city of Boston alone, almost exeluswely
advocating the cause.

In Rhode Island and other New England States, except
Vermont, the same causes, and the popularity of Mr.
Adams, prevented the party from making any sensible
inroads into the two old established ~ political orgamzatxons.

"The party spread also into.one corner of Qhig. Qn “the
Reserve,” in the Northeastern part of thg State, and the
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counties bordering on Pennsylvania. the party carried all
before it, but in the Southern and Western part of the State.
it never got a foot hold, and after the election in 1832, it
declined as rapidly as in New York and elsewhere.

In September, 1830, an Anti-masonic National Conven-
tion was held at Philadelphia, over which Francis Granger
presided and Wm. H. Seward, of New York, and Thaddeas
Stevens, of Pennsylvania, were two of the leading spirits.
Weed does not seem to hgve been present, as his name
does not appear in the printed proceedings. It was Sew-
ard’s first starting point in political life. He was elected
a member of the New York Senate at the election in No-
vember following. The Convention was composed of about
100 delegates from Vermont, Massachusetts, Rhode Island,
Connecticut, New York, New Jersey. Penusylvania, Ohio.
and one delegate from the then territory of Michigan. The
Convention discussed many points in regard to what the
members designated the “iniquities of Free-masonry,” re-
hashed all the stalc anathemnas that had been hunled against
the institution in Western New York, and with appropriate
resolves adjourned to meet again in September, 1831, at Bal-
timore to nominate candidates for President and Vice Pres-
ident. But Anti-masonry began about this time to wane,
and the excitement seemed to have expended itself. How-
ever at the appointed time a National Convention was held
at Baltimore, and Wm. Wirt, of Maryland, was nominated
for President, and Amos Ellmaker, of Pennsylvania, for
Vice President for the coming election in 1832, At thist
election this ticket only received seven electoral votes—the
State of Vermont.

Mr. Wirt was one of the ablest statemen and most
learned jurists ever produced in this country. He was At-

A
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torney-General during the administration of James Mon-
roe, also a part of the succeeding administration o‘ John
Quincy Adams, and was acknowledged one of the most pro-
found counselors in legal matters in the countyy. But Anti-
masonry ended his career politically. Gen. Jackson while
President, in speaking of the Anti-masonic excitement, re-
marked that it had been a great benefit to the nation as it
had killed off two of the woist and most dangerous dema-
gogues in the country—Wm. Wirt and Francis Granger.
He was right as to the first, but the latter came to the front
again for a short time in 1841, by General Harrison ap-
pointing him Postmaster (zeneral, but he only held the posi-
tion a short time, as after the death of Hlarrl'son, President
T'yler re-organized his cabinet and Granger retired, and
never afterwards was heard of in public affairs.

In New York, in 1832, the Clay men and Anti-masons
united on a single electoral ticket, although ostensibly sup-
porting different candidates for President. The coalition was
brought about by Weed and Seward. They went to Wash-
ington and attended a famous caucus of all the opponents
of .Gen. Jackson and there “sold out” the Anti-masonic
party of New York to the friends of Henry Clay. It was
reported that Weed received $5,000 for the support of his
paper, and, if possible, to throw the electoral vote of the
great State of New York for the Kentucky statesman. The
violent Anti masonic partisans did not readily agree to
this arrangement, and denounced Weed in unmeasured
terms. But Weed's tact was equal to the emergency, and
after several consultations among the leaders, it was agreed
that ‘he Anti-masonic candidate for Governor, Francis
Granger, should receive the support of all the Clay men, and
the Anti-masons should support the Clay electoral ticket,
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whwh if elected shoul(] cast its \()toq for cither eandidate for
President, that would by so doing defeat Jackson. The
same arrangement was made in Pennsylvania, but in Ver-
mont, nothing but a simon-pure Wirt ticket was available.
In Ohio and other States the Anti-Masons generally sup-
ported the Clay electoral ticket as against Gen. Jackson.
Weed’s arrangements failed as Jackson carried both New
York and Pennsylvania by large majorities.

This virtually ended the Anti-mason party in New
York, and the members naturally gravitated to the Whiz
party which was formed soon after. .

At the election in New York, in 1832, the Democratic
or Jackson candidate for Governor was the late Wm. L.
Marcy, who subsequently occupied a seat in the cabinets of
two National administrations—those of Mr. Polk and Gen.
Picrce. During the excitement about Morgan, Marcy was
one of the Judges of the Supreme Court, and an act having
passed the Legislature organizing a special circuit to try
some of the Morgan conspirators, Judge Marcy was ap-
pointed to hold one of these courts at Lockport, in June, 1830.
The trials were long and tedious, but Judge Marcy presided
with I)'meme and ((mduct(d them with dignity and satis-
faction tp all partlo% e was also at the time of his
nommatl(m a Scnator for the State of New York in the
\.ttlona.l Congress, and very popular throughout the State.
I‘hls poplqa,nt), it was fc.u‘c(l by the Anti-masonic leaders
WOuld surely elect him, unless thcs “could get up some official
agt of his, or somethmg der o‘rator_) to hlq character that
would ,turn the tide of popularxt) afr'unqt him.” "After

N official recmd nothing could be found
te lif¢ was’ 80 e\emplan that nothing
bé thoujsht of. * But’ Tharlow Weed




ABDUCTION OF MORGAN: 61

made a discovery. By the law organizing the special
circuits, before mentioned, the judge was to have an extra
allowance for his necessary traveling and other expenses,
while holding these courts, to be aundited and allowed. by
the Comptroller. and paid ont of the State Treasury. Weed
in examining Judge Marcy's bill of Expenses for holding
the special circuit at Lockport., which was filed in the
Comptroller’s office as a voucher, discovered this item:
“To paid for mending my pantaloons,.........e..... 50" -
Thus it was discovered that Judge Marcy had actually
drawn from the people’s treasury the sum of half of a dol:
lar for repairing his own old woru out clothing! ‘Weed’s
paper therefore was lively next issae. It proclaimed thé
fact in great double pica sensation head-lines, such as no
paper at that time had ever indulged in, and made the
welkin ring with the enormous robbery the great State of
New York had endured by this'man who now ‘askeéd the
suffrages of the people as their chief magistrate! The
Anti-masonic papers throughout the State caught up the
refrain and nothing for a time was heard but “Marcy’s
breeches!”  Cuts repiesenting a pair of pantaloons with'a
large patch, sometimes on the khee, arrdat others on the
seat; with the figitres “B0 cts,” were képt standing at thé
head"of their colatnns, and long editorials with any-amount,
of twaddlé about the robbéry: Marcy hdd been guilty of.
Handbitls were also-posted up from Lake Ei.¢ to thie most -
eastern poiut of Long ‘Island, with a- much larorer endnﬁ*
ing'of the garinbnt,"sometimes the “patch” rbpresénted‘ in
tediitk to draiv' particular attention o the money'uhliwfaly
drawn from'tHé tréasufy. - But ‘£he.dffuir had ¥t ¥equet
IPappbars that Fudge Mirey wis vety meffiodical in'sll his
bhati Rid never patdl 8ht the sikallest st of money withl
9



noted it down on the page on which he kept his public ex-
penses. On his return to Xbany, he called at the Comp-
troller's office to get his account aundited, and handed to a
clerk his note book to copy his bill in a proper form, as was the
custom in the office. Thus it was that the private charge
of *+50 cts.” for mending his own pantaloons was paid for
by the State, he overlooking it, as well as the auditing
officer, who probably did not particularly examine each
item as he might in other cases where he was not so well
acquainted with the accuracy of the claimant. When this
became understood the administrasion papers were not
slow in putting the matter in the most favorable light be-
fore the people, and the re-action resulted greatly in his
favor. His careful and methodical course of transacting
all business, both public and private, became known to the
people, and it made him thousands of votes that otherwise
he would not have received, and he was elected by a large
majority. Weed nor any of the Anti masonic papers' ever
mentioned the “50 cts.” steal after the election, notwithstand-
ing he was three times afterwards a candidate and oppoeed
by them for the same office, but his friends were very fond of
referring to it at every canvass. At each successive elec-
tion, the Democrats almost universally declared for “Marcy’s
Breeches” for Governor, up to 1838, when the “Breeches™
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began to lose its talismanic power, and Marcy was defeated
by Wm. H. Seward. *“Marcy’s Breeches” then passed into
history.

The aggregate Anti-masonic vote at the fall election, in
1827, was about 14,000. This was before the party was
fully organized and was local, in the western counties, only
a few having nominated tickets. In 1828, Granger, who
was nominated by an Anti-masonic State Convention, de-
clined to be a candidate on the ticket but accepted the
National Republican nomination for Lieutenant Governor.
Weed and most of the leaders approved of this course, and
advised the members of the party to support the National
ticket thus formed and thereby defeat the Jackson can-
didate—Van Buren. But the rank and file would not con-
sent, and Solomon Southwick having announced himself
a simon pure Anti-masonic candidate for Governor, received
33,000 votes. Van Buren ‘had but a plurality of 23,000
votes over the National candidate, and had the Anti-masons
all voted for the latter he and Granger would hdve been
elected. The Anti-masons all supported John Quincy
Adams for President, as well as the Nationals, but at that
time the Presidential Electoral College was elected by dis-
tricts, instead of by general ticket, as in 1832, and for all
time subsequently, and Jackson’s Electors were chosen in
twenty districts, and Adams carried but sixteen. Adams,
previous to the election having been interrogated by the
Anti-masonic committee as to his views of masonry replied
that “he was not and never had been a mason,” which se-
cured him the support of every member of that party, but
lost him perhaps some votes among the masons, who were
Federalists, and who thought a President of the United
States descended from his proper dignity to answer so in-
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masonic National Convention in peptember, 1830, said that
*“the abduction and murder of Morgan had been partici-
" pated.in by at least one hundred masons.” But Weed only
claimed that fifty-two were directly or indirectly concerned,
and at the  time the “crime” was committed, knew any-
thing about it. In his Journal in 1830, he gave the names
of these and candidly admitted that there was no legal
evidence against some of them. There were perhaps over
one hundred indictments presented, but upon most of them
no trials were had, others were found “not guilty,” and six
only convicted, who were sentenced to short terms of im-
prisonment in the county jails.

The Anti-masonic ¢ommittee, before mentloned was
the instigator of the proceedings, who deemed it necessary
to keep these trials before the public that the excitement
might not lose its interest. They entirely failed to prove

that any murder had been committed, and consequently no"

one was indicted except for conspiracy or participating

in the abduction. .The nearest:they ever came to proving a

murder was by one -
. EDWARD GIDDINGS.

At the time Morgan was taken to Niagara, the fort was

in charge of Giddings, who had been a sergeant in the U.

S."Army, and now in the enploy of the'government as light -

house keeper at the mouth of the river. He was ‘a mason,
and ‘at the first meeting of the Leroy Seceders ‘appeared
there as a repentant criminal and'confessed, that he re-
ceived Morgsn in the fort and locked him up in the maga:
zine—that after a' few 'days a committee of masons, with
himself; delivered over‘the prisoner to the Canada masons
and hé was taken over the river and there murdeied. Thts;
even if dny credit’could be given to this tonfessed +uffian’s

-
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statement, the crime was committed without the jurisdic-
tion of New York and of the United States. There ave
many persons now living, who have seen “Giddings’ Alma-
nac,” which contained his horrible confession, illustrated
with frightful wood cuts ot scenes in the Morgau “tragedy,”
and other masonic “deviltry.” If we take his testimony he
was a self-convicted murderer. Ifesaid he knew not whether
Morgan had any water or food during his confinement for
days, and candidly admitted that the men in connec-
tion with him, who had the custody of Morgan, were in
favor of his release, and he would have been released if he
(Giddings) had consented to it. When he first made this
confession and issued his almanac, the Anti-masons adopted
him as a valuable acquisition to their party, but Weed and
the more sagacious ones soon discovered he had overdone
the matter and that he would prove a “whited sepulchre” to
their political asparations. He was not the witness they
wanted to prove the murder of Morgan. Upon going into
court as a witness, counsel objected to his testimony, and
the court sustained the objection. An appeal was taken to
the Supreme Court of the State, where the decision of the
Court below was attirmed. His rejection as a witness in
Court was not on the ground of his heing an accomplice in
the crime, but under the common law rule, as well as the
Statutes of New York at that period, which excluded a wit-
ness in Court who had avowed Atheistical doctrine, and a
disbelief in divine revelation. It was proved in Court, and
undenied by the attorney for the prosecution, that Giddings
was 2 botorious scentic. and it was unon this voint that the
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witness is not now excluded for his belief or unbelief in a
divine providence or his denial of revelation from God to
yman. But at that time it was in full force, and even Anti-
masons admitted that Giddings was properly excluded from
testifying. In fact, no candid man believed a word of his
story, and he soon sank out of public sight.

JOHN C. SPENCER.

This distinguished counselor, at the time the first in-
dictments were presented, was a Senator in the New York
Legislature from the Ontario district, and attending to his
official duties at Albany. Cheesebro, Sawyer, and Lawson
immediately sent for him and engaged him as their counsel

"and attorney in the forthcoming trial. He came home
and accepted the trust, and they told him all they knew
about the matter under the seal of the well-known rule of
attorney and client. Exactly what they confessed, of
course, the public never knew, but these men afterwards
claimed that he most shamefully violated the trust reposed
in him as counsel, which should have consigned him to dis-
honorable infamy in the profession. After he had obtained
their confession he advised them to plead guilty to the in-
dictment, which they did. '

As soon as his clients were sentenced, Spencer returned
to Albany, where he procured the passage of an act of the
Legislature authorizing the appointment of a special attor-
ney to prosecute the abductors and “murderers” of Mor-
gan, representing to the Governor that he had obtained
a full knowledge of all concerned in the Morgan affair, and
asked the position for himself. Gov. Van Burea hesitated
in appointing him, but after offering it to several others
who -declined to accept, Spencer succeeded in getting
himself -appointed, whereupon he immediately commenced
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o rigid and vindietive  prosceution of all - who were in
any wanner suspected of any paurticipation in the affuir,
Before he left Albany, he exhibited to the Governor the fod.
lowing alphabetical Jist of names whom he proposed 1o
prosecate, and smong whom he elaimed were the mgderers:

“Adnms, Allen, Bruee, Brown,  Butler, Barton, Coe,
Chipperficld, Cheesehro, Commins, Darrow, Denn, Daniels,
Folletta, Fox, Freneh, Farwell, Gansen, Gillis, Goodwill,
Hasking, Haywood, Howard, Hobbard, Tarlbat, S, Jewett,
1o, dewetty Johns, King, Kingsley, Ketehum, Lowson, Lakey,
Mathers, MeDonald, MeBride, Molineux, Platt, Parichorst,
Roberts, Bawyer, Smith, Shepherd, Seyvimonr, Senver, Shel-
don, ‘Tarnery ‘Fompson, Whitney, Wright, Wilson, Wal-
bridge, and Wilcox,” .

Some of these men were not masons, and others were
as cqually astonished whenthey leavned that Spencor wos
about 4o Institute proceedings ngainst, Chem for murder and
kidnapping,  ‘Three of then lmd alread been Aried and
were werving ont their terms of imprikonment, Fhey werg
not dnly astendshed but their ndignation knew no hounds
nt the wfumy of the man who had gobasely betrenyed them.
Muny libel snits” grew  out of the publeation of the st
which were terminated by cithed stnnpolory, o by an
Anti masonie fury fuiling to conviet, o awarding: damgres,

o RBpenteer, however, proeaved  indletments queginst - tho
majon part of these men and obhers whom ha nfterwnsis sis.
pected and amarked ont as proper vietimm for the prison
fonge or the cillows; ind s hich veendval of Amtinasome
trinls wassoon fnEprogrosd 2 Thatorrible pedscortions nhd

* hitter aniirodity sezabnst maszotey Sncibed and nitded him o
hin arbdtrary and vindletivie zal 1o try. womae of the trost
reupectable and valuible eitizons of Westerrr - Now Y onle,
tnuny ‘of ‘whom he well knew wera gutity of no ortmo;. hut
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for pntu al parprs=s he anl tae Aut -masoaic iea el
forced them tr b-urthe olioquy of crime oa their god
uame, and the harrassinz expen~e and annoyance of

public trial.  With ali their active ciforts they could in
no evideace to eonvict of murder, or even to prove in th
most remote degree that Morgan had been murdered. Y
the political leaders deemed it uecessary, and they care
not who suffered, nor had they scruples about the means t
accomplish it. An old man by the name of Adams, wh
had resided in Niagara county, and was onc whom it wa
suspected knew something about the disappearance of Mo
gan, was indicted, upon what evidence it was never know
as the Special Attorney never brought on his trial.  Befor
he was indicted he removed to Vermoat, and Thurlow Wee
was sent after him and brought him back to Niagu
county, where he was locked up in jail.  Ile was taken ot
on two qeeasions to testify on the trials of other parties, ¢
which Spencer contended Adamns could, if he would, co
vict somebody of murdor. But Adams, under oat
solemnly deposed, in both cases, he knew nothing abon
the affair.  But Spencer determined to make a proper wi
ness of this old man and get him to swear as he wantc
him to do. He approached him in various ways with otle
to quash his indictinent and with money considerations !
become a willing witness.  When these failed he wrote |
Gov. Throop, asking the jovernor to renew the reward
$2,000 offered by Gov. Clinton to any one who would giy
evidence to couviet the murderer or murderers, stating th
Adaims “had herctofore refused to disclose, but as he w:
poor and frightened. at his own incarceration, 1 am sui
Adans, by the aid of an old fricnd of his, could be indugc
to give such testimony as is now necded, otherw ise withot

10
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his testimony we shall never he able to establish jodicially
the fact of Morgan’s death.”  Gov, Throop, very properly,
refused to comply with any such request, and wrote sharply
to Spencer what he thought of a prosecuting officer’s at-
tempt to hribe a witness to swear away the life or lives of
others, when that proposed witness had twice positively
sworn he knew nothing about the affuir, and his contrary
testimony now would only prove himself a perjurer.

But Spencer was determined to find a witnees that
would prove the murder. and made application to one whe
had not tied up his credibility by any other oath or affirma-
tion, A lawyer by the name of Simeon B, Jewett, residing
at Clarkson, on the “Ridge Road,” over which the Morgan
carriage had passed on its way to Niagara, was arraigned
on two separate indictments “for conspiracy and abduction
of William Morgan.”  The only connection he appears to
have had in the transaction was, that when the earriage
containing Morgan passed throngh Clarkson, he assisted in
procuring a change of horses.  He was on bail awaiting the
sitting of the court to try him, when Spencer sent for him
to come to Canandaigua. Jewett immediately complied
with the request, and Spencer proposed to him, if he would
agree to give certain testimony, to convict certain parties,
for something more than abduetion, he would enter a nolle
proa. on one indictment against him, and the other he would
0 alter the record that the Court could not fail to dismiss
it, on motion, for its defectiveness,  Jewett, a cunning law-
yer, at once saw his way out of & very disagreeable and per-

* plexing affair of being tried by an Anti-masonic jury which
was sure to convict whether the charge was proved or not.
He therefore consented to the compact, and when the Court
convened, 8pencer entered a nolle pros., on one of the indict-
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ments, and had mautilated the othex as agree(] which the
Court dismissed, but when the Special Attorney called upon
Jewett to testify as proposed, the witness swore to a directly
opposite state of facts, which upset the attorney’s calcula-
tions and made him terrible wroth, but he dare not say a
word in open court as he would then be exposing his own
shame. But outside, meeting Jewett, he upbraided him
roundly for violating the contract, and threatened to pro-
cure other indictments against him. Jewett told him, how-
ever, he had better go slow, for if he attempted to trouble
him further, he would expose the whole transaction, and
get him indicted for forgery and mutilating the court
records. Spencer quailed and never mentioned Jewett
again while he was Special Attoiney.

Spencer’s next attempt to prove a murder was to
tamper with another prisoner, who was serving out a two
years and four months sentence in the Canandaigua jail.
This prisoner was Eli Bruce. This attempt also failing, he
appears to have thereafter abandoned this mode of making
the right kind of witnesses.

Spencer soon aftei this resigned his office, and Vl(.bory
Birdsye was appointed in his place. Birdsye was far less
vindictive, and in most respects fair and impartial, and the
defendants tried afterwards had no cause to complain of
any unfairness on the part of the Special Attorney.

The Anti-masons elected Spencer to the Lower House
of the Legislature in 1830, but on the decline of that party,
.he declined with it, and pursbed & very retired life up to
1842, when President Tyler appointed him Seretary of War
on the disruption of: the Harrison cabinet. It was while he
was Secretary of War that the Somera tragedy took place, in
which his son was huwg at the yard-arm of a war vessel for
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mutiny. Capt. McKenzic gave as b's reasons for not put-
ting the young man in irons and bringing him home for
trial, that his father’s influence as a cabinet officer he
teared would prevent the proper punishment of the mnuti-
neer. Spencer resigned his position in the cabinet and
retired to private life and died a few years after.

CHEESEBRO, SAWYER, LAWSON AND “DR. FOSTER.”

At the first meeting of the grand jury atter the Mor
gan hegira from Canandaigua, Cheesebro, Sawyer, Lawson,
and “Dr. Foster” were formally indicted for “wickedly and
maliciously kidnapping and forcibly taking William Mor-
gan, against his will or consent, out of the limits of Ontario
county, against the peace and dignity of the people of the
State of New York.” The first three were arrested and
gave bail, but the last could not be fonnd, snd as before
stated never was found. )

Cheesebro, Sawyer and Lawson employed John C.
Spencer for their counsel, and upon his advice, the three
plead guilty on being arranged, and the Court sentenced
them to one year’s imprisonment each in the County jail.
They served out their term of imprisonment Wwithout a
murmur, and on being released assumed their former busi-
ness, and lived and died highly respected in the community
where they were known. Mr. Cheesebro, during the
adwministration of President Pierce, was appointed Post-
master at Canandaigua, which office he held until 1860 or
1861, satisfactorily to the people and the government. He

the father of the late celebrated authoress, Miss Caro-.

A. Cheesebro.

The version of these men was that by the request of

: parties they had assisted in getting Morgan from
via, and also’in taking him to Niagara, on his way to

'
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Canada. where they understood he desired to go and get
away from Miller and his associates, and with the discrep-
ancy in their statement with other witnesses as to the
willingness of Morgan to enter the carriage near the jail,
their truthfulness was never doubted by their friends and
neighbors. As long as the excitement lasted they main-
tained a remarkable reticence about the affair, but years
afterwards, when the excitement had ceased, they made no
hesitation in giving the above explanation to all who

sought it. '

. ELI BRUCE.

This individual at the time of the abduction of Mor-
gan was Sheriff of Niagara county. He admitted that he
met the carriage with Morgan at a point threc miles
north of Lockport, and accompanied it to Lewistown and
from thence to Youngstown, and was present when Morgan
was locked up in the old magazine, but he declared that he
never supposed. that Morgan was under any restraint, but
that he went there of his own free will and was anxious to
get out of the State in some mysterious manner. What
took place afterwards he solemnly averred he knew not.

A few months after he was ordered to appear before
Gov. Clinton, at Albany, and show cause why he should
not be deposed from office for participating in the unlawful
abduction of Morgan. Gov. Clinton, after hearing the case
promptly removed him from office. He was soon after in-
dicted, threatened and in every possible way harrassed and-
persecuted, and his trial purposely put off by Spencer, until -
financially ruined he had no means for the support of him:
self and family. In this condition he was bronght to trial.

The indictment against him also included two co-
respondents—Orsamus Turner and Jated Darrow. Separ-
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ere neve ©
was ever any ev
the aftuir, except being personal frien
was only known to the Grand Jury, the A 1¢ ¢
mittee, and the Special Attorney what object there was in
coupling them with him in the presentment,  Broee's trial
came oft in tho Court of General Sessions—Judge Howell,
presiding—at Canandalzun, on the 20th day of August,
1828, "T'he trinl lasted some ten days, and the Jury brought
him in guilty of “Conspiracy and Abduction of Willinm
Morgan.”  IHis counsel took exceptions to the verdict of
the jury and the ruling of Court on account of o merger of
the two crimes which were not specificinlly sct forth in the
indictinent.  The cnse was therefore taken to the Supreme
Court, and in the following May that Court decided that
the facty of the case did not constitute a merger. The
opinion of the Court was given by Judge Savage, who said:
“I'he offence of conspiracy is a distinet aud separate offence
—and not at all necessary to, or necessarily connected with,
the fulse imprisonment shown by the evidence,  The defend-
ant Druce might commit the offence of abduction, or the
Imprisonment without having heen guilty of conspirncy.”
The counsel claimed that the exceptions were not properly
certified to the Supreme Court, otherwise a ditferent decision
would have been made, but they made no further attempt
to avoid the pronouncing of the sentence, On the 20th
day of May the Court sentenced Bruce to be confiued in
the county Jail, at Canandaigua, for the term of two years
and four months. He remuined in jail till September
20th, 1831, .

While in Jail, Spencer attempted to suborn him to
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testify to a murder, offering to provide for his family, and
to loan him money on “his own individual responsibility,
zand that he did not doubt that the executive would be in-
Auced from such a course, at the instance of the Anti-ma-
sonic party to relieve him before the expiration of his
time.” But ‘Bruce indignantly rejected all offers to per-
jure himself that he might thereby be personally bene-

fitted. While serving out his term also he was taken to

Lockport to testify on the trial of Ezekiel Jewett, but re-

fuséd to be sworn, remarking “that he had once consented

to testify, but as he believed it had been of no service he

should decline.” The Court ordered him to be imprisoned

thirty days in the Ontario county jail after his present

term had expired, for contempt. But this order was never

carried out. He was released at the expiration of his sen-

tence, as the Judge remitted this order on account' of the

feeble condition of his health caused by the long confine-

ment. Broken down in constitution from his long impris-

onment, on being released he returned to Lockport, where

his family resided, and commenced the practice of medi-

cine, but about one year thereafter, he was attacked with

the Asiatic Cholera, on its first visit to this'country in 1832.

He died on the 24th day of September, 1832, aged 39 years.

On the trial of John Whitney and James L. Gillis,

Bruce was called’ as a witness on the part of the defence
when he testified as follows:

“Els Bruce—On the evening of the 13th of September,
witness was first informed of Morgan’s being on the Ridge
Road. Two gentlemen came and gavé him this informa-
tion, One of them was Burrage Smith—the name of the
other he declines mentioning, It was not John Whitney.
Did not, till that time, know that Morgan had been
taken‘to Canandaigua. Six or eight days before this time,

N\
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a gentleman called on witness to go to Batavia and get
Morgan away. e stated that there was difficulty between
Morgan and Miller, and that Morzan would go away will-
ingly. Witness declined having any thing to do with it.
Orsamus Turner, of Lockport. called on witness about this
time, and requested him to fit up an apartment in the jail
for Morgan’s temporary reception, and stated that Morgan
would be there that night on his way to Canada. Witness
saw Burrage Smith at the Cott: (G Inn in Lockport. There
was no stxanpem with him. He did not know John Whit-
ney at that time. The two gentlemen referred to requested
witness to go to Wright's tavern on the Ridge. They stated
that \I()nr.m was there, on his way to Canada. Witness
inquired if there was difficulty or trouble. Stated that he
was Sheriif’ of the county, and did not wish to get into a
scrape. They assured him that Morgan had consented to
go away—that he was to be put upon a farm in Canada.
Witness went to Wright's, where he found the carriage in
which Morgan was conveyed. Witness says, a man w ho is
dead, (Hague) and Morgan, were the only persons who
rode in the carriage from “nfrhts to Lewiston. They
changed horses at Lewiston, and proceeded to the burying-
ground near Fort Niagara. They then crossed the ferry
near the Fort, over to Canada. Morgan did not get out of
the boat. The arrangements on the Canada snde, for Mor-
gan’s reception, were not compieted, and he was brought
back. It was thought best to bring him back a few days
until the people on the other side were ready to receive
him. They then went up to the Fort and lodged Morgan
in the magazine, to await the preparations on the other
side of theriver. Has neverscen Morgan since he left him
in the magazine. Does not know what was done with him.
He left the Fort before day-light. Hague and Morgan con-
versed together. Morgan supposed he was going with
friends, and appeared perfectly easy. Some liquor was
handed in to Morgan at Molineux’s tavern. He sat erect in
the carriage,'and “did not appear to Qe enfeebled. When
they got out of the carriage, Morgan locked arms with tle
two gentlemen, (Hague and the “gentleman who got’ in at

st
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Youngstown,) and walked towards the Fort. Witness sup-
posed that Morgan bhad consented to go off. There was no
liquor in the carriage.

Cross examination by Mr. Spencer.—The man who was
with Smith is five hundred miles from this place. He then
lived at Lockport. Witness got to Wright’s tavern between
9 and 10 o’clock in the evening. He rode back to Lock-
port, the next day in a sulkey. He does not know how
Smith got to Lockport. He does not know how the sulkey
got to Lewiston. He understootl that the sulkey was sent
home. Did not see any body start with it. The sulkey
was to be forwarded on east. The horse, he understood,
was owned somewhere on the Ridge. Might have had
directions where to send the horse and sulkey, but don’t
now recollect particulars. Witness saw several persous at
Wright's—perhaps half a dozen, besides those who resided
there. Some of them were strangers. Wright lives at the
point where the Lockport road intersects the Ridge. It is
about three miles from Lockport. Saw three persons whom
he knew, at Wright’s, besides those who went on with him.
He knew the person who drove the carringe. A person on
horseback rode up near them when near Molineux’s. Took
another carriage at Lewiston. The curtains of both carriages
were closed down. . Has seen Loton Lawson in jail since, but
did not see him at Wright’s. Is confident of that. The
same pergons only who came from Wright’s, got into Fox’s
carriage. Fox’s testimony is perfectly correct. A man got
in near Youngstown. Witness met two or three strangers
on the way from Wright's to Lockport, on feot. He met
them aboust three quarters of & mile from Wright's, Wit-
ness gaw a strapger at the installation the next day, whom
he was informed was John Whitney, of Rochester. Mor-
gan was left in the magazine. [To the question in whose
charge, Morgan Was left, the Court interposed-and said that
persons' not apbn trial, must not be implicated, and the
question was.not apswered. The Court alse refysed to per-
mit, the names of persous who were in the boat, to be men-
tioned.]" Witness said they crossed the river jn the usual
ferry boat. ‘Tle 'subject of Morgan’s abduction wis not

11
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« aureed upon at A recuiar meeting of the Roval Arch Chap-
ter. at Lockport. two weeks before it was done.  There
might have been a desittory discussion abwoat it by the
members of the Chapter—ceannot tell the specitic time—can-
not sayv it was during the Septcinber session. Does not
recollect that he toid a person that arrangements had been
made by himself and two other Sherids to carry Morgan
orf.  Witness says, upon his oath, that he believed he had
consented to go away voluntariiv. Morgan made no com-
plaint while witcess was with him. There was no pistol
cither in the carriage or boat, to the knowledge of the wit-
ness. The regular stagze to Lewiston did net then run
through Lockport. It was six or eight days before Morgan
was at Wright's that Turner came and asked witness if
there was a cell at liberty. He stated that Morgan would be
brought that night from Batavia. and a place was wanted
for him till he could be sent on to Canada.”

ELIHU MATHER.

This gentleman was indicted at the Orleans county
Circuit Court, charging him with a “Conspiracy to kidnap
William Morgan,” and his trial took place at the Novem-
ber term of the Court, 1830. Over a week was occupied in
impanneling a jury, and the most exciting of all the trials
occurred in relation to the right of masons to sit on the
jury, when one of the fraternity was to be tried. The oaths
or obligations of masons were here pretty well ventilated.
The masons were all excluded fromthe pannel except one
who was admitted by Judge Gardiner, the presiding Judge,
he deposing on oath that he would have no norq hesitancy
in bringing in 2 member guilty, if proved, than one who
had never belonged to the Order. Tbe Anti-masonic com-
mittee were very indignant towards the Judge for this
ruling, and took up the exceptions of the Special Counsel,
to the Supreme Court, where the decision was sustained.
Not satisfied with this they introduced the subject into the
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General Assembly as worthy of a lunslatne mqum, aud
the Assembly ordered the Judge to make a special report
upon what grouuds he had so decided. This report was "
an able and logical one, and so clearly justified his action,
that even the most violent partisan never made a move to
have the matter further investigated.

The testimony on the trial of Mather was that when
the Morgan carriage arrived at Gaines, on the Ridge Road,
he was applied to for a change of horses—that he procured
the team of his brother’s, put them to the vehicle in the
place of those that needed rest, mounted the box and drove
the carriage to the next place of change, when he returned
home. This was all the part he had with the affair, and it
was not proved that he knew who were his passengers, or
that he had ever heard of William Morgan. Upon these
facts only being shown the jury very properly acquitted
him. He afterwards moved to Michigan, and resided at
Coldwater in tthat State, where he died in 1866, at the age
of 84 years.

COL. W. M. KING.

This gentleman at the time of the Morgan Abduction
residéd on a farm about six miles from Léwiston, near
Youngstown. He was a man of unblemished character,
and possessed a reptitation for exemplary integrity. He
haa represented Niagdra county in both Houses of the New
York ‘Legislaturé and was widely known ] and highly
esteemed. On the might that the Morgan carriage was
drivefi to Youngstowh, it stopped -at Col. King’s, and Bruce
went In and woke hit up, the- hour being near midnight.

on - Fox, 'the -driver of the cafriage from Lewiston,
ifittl that King and Bruce tonversed for some time, to-
gethet in thie hall, when Col. King came and got into ‘the
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carriage. He then accompanied the party across the ferry
to Canada and returned with it, and was present when Moi-
gan was locked up by Giddings in the magazine. The
next day he participated in the ceremonies at Lewiston, as
well as Bruce, and it does not appear that he farther
troubled himself about Morgan, or ever inquired after his
fate. His hecalth for some time had been feeble, being
attacked with pulmounary consumption, for which he was
advised by his physicians to seek a more southern climate
as i check to the disease. With this view he obtained an
appointment as Sutler in the army for a station at “Canton-
ment Towson,” on a tribitary to the Red River, in Lonisi-
ana, near the boundary line of Texas, and left for this dis-
tant station a few months after the Morgan abduction. He
was indicted for “conspiracy and murder,” shortly after he
left, and the Anti-masonic committee declared he was a
fugitive from justice, and demanded that an officer be sent
to arrest and bring him back. A requisition from the Gov-
ernor of New York on the Governor of Louisiana was pro-
cured, and Joseph Garlinghouse, Sheriff of Ontario county,
with Phineas P. Bates, ex-Sheriff, thus armed, started for
Louisiana. Garlinghouse and Bates, at the commencement
of the legal proceedings against the ‘“Abductors,” had a
special ¢ontract between themselves to share the profits of
the venture, and if they could ¢onvict any one of murder,
they proposed to claim the $2,000 reward offered by Gov.
Clinton. They were therefore very zealous to procure Col.
King, as there was a ¢ount in the indictment against him
for murder, and it was thought he might have been ome of
those who took- Morgan out of the magazine on. the night
of the 20th of September. When they arrivad at New
QOrleans, an officer of the military post where Col. King was

.
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stationed, was also in the city, and while they were getting
the proper endorsement of their papers from the Governor,
learned their errand, and hurried back to camp, arriving
there before the Sheriff and his deputy. He' informed the
* Colonel of what was in store for him. Col. King determined
not to be arrested by these officers and dragged back as a
criminal in chains, but to go back by himself a free citizen,
and in New York boldly face his accusers. He therefore
stepped over the line into Texas, and when the officers
arrived at the camp they could not find their prisoner.
There would have been little danger or inquiry made if
they had pursued and arrested him on Mexican soil, as
that Government paid but. little attention to infractions of
international law in that remote region from the seat of
Government, but Garlinghouse and Bates were not the most
courageous of men, and some hints of the Colonel’s friends
in camp, made them hurry on the road homeward. Col
King immediately resigned his position and made haste to
return to New York to meet the accusation against him,
He arr ved at Lockport about the same time the officers
did, and stood fearless and erect before his enemies and
defied them to prove that he had committed any violation
of the laws of his country. He was atrested, .but was
released on bajl to appear for trial at a future term of the
Court. But he was soon called to appear before a higher
tribunal than that covenanted in the bond. He died in a fgw
weeks after, his friends said from an attack of hemorrhage
of the the lungs—his enemies, of remorse and shame.
., -EZEKJEL, JEWETL. .
The indictment against this gutlem.n wts lol Nnt
imprisonment,. charging -him specifically with receiving
Morgan at. the'fort and. locking him up in the'magazine.
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When t.he troops left the fort in May, 1826, as has before
been stated, the government property there was left in the
custody of Giddings, who was the light house keeper, but
sometime in August, a Commissary in the army visited
the fort for the purpose of seeing what property was left.
with a view to making some disposition, or preserving it from
waste. While there he made sale of certain articles belong-
ing to the government, but not disposing of all, he employed
Mr. Jewett to take charge of the balance, and returned to
his regiment. Thus it was that Mr. Jewett was quas/ in
possession of the fort in the September following, but on
his trial it was proved that Giddings had the keys of the
magazine, and that they were never in the possession of
Jewett, and all_the testimony brought forward by the prose-
cution, did not directly implicate the defendant in a remote
way with the affhir. His trial took place in Lockport, in
June, 1830, before the Special Court—Judge Marcy pre-
siding. It was a long and tedious trial, and ‘it was at this
term that the Judge charged the State half a dollar for get-
ting a tailor to mend his pantaloons. The jury in the case
of Jewett were out but fifteen minutes before they brought
in a verdict of “Not guilty.”
. Solomon C. Wright and Jeremiah Brown, the first a
tavern keeper, on the Ridge Road where the horses to the
Morgan carriage was changed, and the latter who drove the
egrriage -from Wright'sto Lewistdn were tried:at this same
Lo also acquitted.
BURRAGE SMITH

hester, in September, 1826, and in company

itoey, teck passage in.the stage from ‘Roches-

rigua, on the mdrning.of the 13th of that

as one who accompanied the Morgan carriage,
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and-is supposed to be the one who rode in the sulkey, which
waited for the carriage at Ackley’s, at the north end of the
village. Others supposed him to be the mysterious “Dr.
Foster,” who in company with Cheesebro, Lawson and Saw-
~yer, took Morgan from the jail, but this was proved by the
testimony of Mrs. Hall and Dr. Wells not to be the case,
as they deposed that the two bore no resemblance. Which-
ever way he may have left Canandaigua, it was well authen-
ticated that he accompanied the party to Niagara. It will
be seen by Bruce’s testimony that he it was, who informed
him (Bruce) at Lockport that Morgan was at Wright's,
and that he had rode on ahead in the sulkey to notify him
of the fact. He was the next day at the installation at
Lewiston, and returned home the following day by the
steamboat plying on Lake Ontario between Niagara
and Rochester. After Cheesebro, Sawyer and Lawson
were indicted, and ‘the Anti-masonic committee pub-
* licly avowed their intention to prosecute every one con-
nected with Morgan’s abduction, Smith and Whitney sud-
denly left Rochester and the State. They went to Louis-
ville, Kentucky, and procured employment on the Ohiq
canal then being constructed around the Falls at that place.
The Anti-masons immediately proclaimed that Smith and
Whitney were fugitive murderers and hastened to obtain
the proper papers to arrest them in Kentucky, Smith wag
indicted in the Ontario Special Sessions for Conspiracy and
False Imprisonment. Whitney was also indicted a$ the
same term, but of him we will spesk more fully hereafter,
The proper requisitions were procured of the Governar,
and Garlinghouse and Bates at once started for Kemtucky.
There were a large number of citizens of Ontario snd
Monroe counties at Louisville employed op the work of the
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canal, Major Nathaniel Allen, of Ontario county, having a
large contract thereon, and had engaged laborers in his own
section of the country. Through some of these Smith and
Whitney learned that Garlinghouse and Bates were on their
way to arrest them, when they immediately left before the
officers arrived at Louisville. Smith went to New Orleans,
but the officers did not pursue him farther, they having no
authority to arrest their prisoners any where but on Ken-
tucky soil. When Garlinghouse went to Lounisiana for Col.
King, he also took with him papers for Smith, but did not
find him. His wife soon afterwards joined him at Rodney,
Mississippi, and he getting into business in New Orleans,
determined to make it his permanent residence. But death
soon put an end to his career on earth. In 1829, the yellow
fever raged with great virnlence in that city and he became
one of its victims. He died on the 17th day of August of
that year. :
JOHN WHITNEY AND JAMES L. GILLIS.

We have grouped these two individuals under one sub-
head for the reason that they were jointly presented in the
indictment as co-criminals, for what rcason it was never
known except to the prosecutors and the grand jury who
found the bill. We shall, however, in treating of their
cases take up each seperately, and unlike the Court before
whom they were tried, grant them separate trials. It was
said that the réason they were jointly presented, ‘was, that
the Anti-masonic committee fourid they had more evidence
to convict Whltney than Giilis, and by mdxctmo' and trying
them togéther they hoped to secure two victims instead of
obe.. THs mhy have been the proper solution, as it ap-
pedited they had some ’evidence against: Whitney, ‘while
ndne-'wmhy ofbelier" ivas ever 'produced agdinst Gillis. ' '’
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It has already been mentioned in speaking of the case
of Burrage Smith that Mr. Whitney came to Canandaigua
with that gentleman on the memorable 12th of September.
His business,there ostensibly was to employ a stone cutter
. for his business in Rochester, and his partner in his testi-
mony on the trial stated they were in want of such a work-
man, and that Whitney told him that was his business to
Canandaigua on the morning before leaving Rochester.
But it was generally believed that Smith and Whitney went
there that day pursuant to an arrangement to receive Mor-
gan and take him to Niagara. While at Canandaigua, he
made inquiries for a stone cutter, and several parties who
knew him met him and testified that that appeared to be
his only business. He was not at the jail when Morgan
was taken out, but was overtaken by the carriage, traveling
on foot, a mile or two out of the village. He got up and
rode on the seat with the driver to Victor, when he procured
a horse and went on ahead of the carriage to Rochester,.
where it is supposed he made the arrangements for the -
second carriage that took up the party at Hanford’s. He
went on with the carriage to Lewiston, qr near there, and
attended the Installation on the 14th, and returned to Roch-
ester in the steamboat with Smith the following day. His
own, version of the affair is given in his testimony at the
second trial of Mr, Gillis, which was as follows:

- “gohn Whitney being duly sworn, stated in substancy
thatihe started from. Rochester for Canandaigua on-the 12th
of September, 1824, in company with Burrage Smith, for.
the purpose of collecting a bill due him at Viotor, and to
get a stone outter at Canandaigua, which was Ris only busi
ness aid only object he had in view, and that he did not
then' know that Morgan was to :be.taken away. Fhat he
was imperfectly acquaired with the defendaat at that time.’

12
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e got on the box of the carriage containing Morgan about
a mile out of C‘anandaigua. James L. Gillis was not in the
carriage to his knowledge. Ile did not know Morgan at
that time. Rode in the carriage to Beach's tavern at Vietor,
where he left it when watering at the trough, and got a
horse of Dr. Beach to go to Rochester. He did not see the
carriage after he left it to go into Beach's until he saw it at
the Reservoir at Rochester.  When he waked them up at
Beach’s he went around to the kitchen door and from
thence into the bar-room, where he saw two or three per-
sons, among whom was one of the (zillises; he thinks Enos.
with whom he drank; was there in all, twenty minutes. or
half an hour—did not sce James L. Gillis there, nor on the
road to Rochester, nor at Hanford’s Landing, where he was
present when they changed carriages, and he could not
have heen there without his knowing it; Gillis did not ride
out with him, nor did he sce him to his knowledge at any
place or any where on the road; no man of that name
accompanied him, nor did he see any one of that name on
the road. He knew of no restraint upon Morgan. He did
not hear him threatened—he was not gagged, nor blinded,
nor to his knowledge was he intoxicated. He heard some
fault found with Morgan about the course he had pursued.
Morgan manifested regret, and he (witness) understood
from the company and from Morgan, that Morgan was
going west, secretly, for the purpose of preventing Miller
and his assoclates from knowing where he did go—with the
object in view to stop the publication of the book they were
about to publish, and he (witness) verily believed this was
the real object. .

“Morgan complained of Miller and his associates—said
they had led him astray, and he was sorry for it. He ap-
peared perfectly satisfied in going off, and spoke of an
arrangement to go. On the Ridge Road they stopped at
two public houses, and at an orchard they got out, gathered

? -+ apples, Morgan among the others, each walking
\ pleasure. There was no jug ‘of liquor in the car-
at there was some 'brought into it in a sumbler.
 took supper at Wright's and weat on with the car-




ABDUCTION OF MORGAN. 87

riage to within about ten miles of Lewiston. Witness does
not know that Morgan was carried out of the State, nor
what'became of him. The carriage was not closed all the
time. He had no conversation with the Gillis whom he saw
at Beach’s on the subject of Morgan. James L. Gillis did
not ride in the carriage with Smith and himself from Victor
to Canandaigua. Witness did not take tea at Ackley’s, nor
was he about the postoffice that day, or night, except com-
ing in or going out from Canandaigua. The persons in the
carriage were addressed Dy their correct names. He in-*
for med or engaged to inform, those who were going to the
lnstallatlon at Lewiston that this carriage was on 1ts way,
and he expected himself to go with them. It was told to
Morgan that he should be as s well taken care of as though
he published the book, if he did as he agreed. He docs
not remember of hearing any reason for putting Morgan
into the carriage by force, but Morgan admitted that he had
agreed with Loton Lawson that he had agreed to go, and
appeared to apologize, and stated that he did net know
what the arrangements were at the jail. Witness thoroughly
understood that the oply object was to keep Morgan from
Miller and his associates, and stop the publl(,a.tlon of the-
book.”

When Wh!tney was apprised while at work on the
Ohio canal that Gdrlinghouse was on his'way to arrest him,
he'feft Loutsville and went to St. Louis, where a brother-in- ’
taw of his résldéd, but after refnaining there for a short time
tetm‘neh véfuntarlly to Rochester and sirrendered himself.

James L. Gillis, the do-respondent’ of Wlntnev, ‘at the
time of the Morgan abduction was & fesident 6f the North-
wstern part’ 8¢ Pdnns.}lvama, where he had located in the
{’eat 1899 “He was a native’ of “Washington_ countv New

ork!'8 Hé se{ved in' the war of 1812 an&' was with Gen.
oral ‘Seott 4t 'the b’attle of Lundy's Lane, where he was
woutitted. That part'of! T’ennsylvama to which' he Had ehi-
grated was'st the time a Wil cotntry; aiid but' fow inhabi-
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region. For tc vl
postoffice was seventy mlles distant. 1
his wife's health failing, he took her o Jf s
brothers, who resided at Victor, Ontari York.

Her health not improving, he left her at Victo and went
to New York City on business, and from there via Phila-
delphia returned home, his affairs demanding his personal
attention. Ilis wife continued to grow worse and died at
his brother’s, in Victor, in July, and it was over a month
before he could receive the sad news, owing to his isolated
locality. He immediately commenced the journey of some
two hundred miles on horseback and reached Victor in the
carliest timne possible. He did not get ready to resume his
journey homeward till about the time of the Morgan abduc-
tion, but was prepared to leave in a day or two. On the
12th of September he went to Canandaigna to negotiate a
draft on Philadelphia at one of the banks in that village,
but not having completed his business when theregular stage
left he returned in the cvening by 4 “return extra coach,” to
Victor. He then concluded to go on to Rochester the same
night to expedite matters and close up his business pre.
paratory for his early return to his home in Pennsylvania.
He had in Rochester previously sold a quantity of wheat
and purchased a lot of mill irons to take with him back to
Pennsylvania. He thinks he must have been ahead of the
Morgan carriage all the way to Rochester, as he neither
saw or heard of it, and had never till some days afterwards
ever heard of Morgan at all. A witness by the name of
Felt on the trial, testified that “Gillis is a thorough driving
man who starts on a journey without regard to day or
night.” Another witness testified that “Gillis is & business
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man and very enterprising.” He having closed his affairs
in that section of the country, soon after returned to his
home in Pennsylvania. It was some time in that out of the
way .section of the country before he heard what was going
on, or that he was accused of being one of the “Morgan
abductors,” but it did reach him after a while, and he at
once started for Canandaigua to inquire into matters, and
coufront his accusers. When he arrived at Canandaigua
he was formally arrested before he got out of the stage, and
put under bonds to appear at a future term of the Court.

At the term of Court to which h¢ was recognized to
appear, he was present and demanded his trial, but Whitney
not having returned from the west, Gillis was refused a
trial until his co-respondent was arrested and in the juris-
diction of the Court. So he alternated back and forth
between New York and Pennsylvania at every term of the
Court for nearly two years. It was finally stipulated be-
tween the attorneys that Mr. Gillis need not attend any
more terms, until he was served with notice that the prose-
cutor and Court were ready to hear and determine his case.

At length Whitney returned and was arraigned on the
indictment. The case came on for trial at the May term,
1829, A notice of the time of the trial had been sent by .
mail, but owing to the irregularities of the mail facilities
of thatday, and the great distance to any postoffice from
Mr. Gillis’ residence it failed to. reach him. The opening
proceedings in tHe case, are here subjoined, from which it
will be seen that Mr. Gillis was not present, but was
patiently awaiting a summons at his home in Pennsylvania,
to appear when informed his case was ready for trial:
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“ONTARIO GENERAL SESSIONS,
May Term, 1829.

The People,
vs.
John Whitney and
James L. Gillis.

“NatuaNieL Howert, Judge.

“For Tie PeorLe—John C. Spencer, Special Attorney,
and Bowen Whiting, District Attorney.

“For THE DErFeNDANTS—Gen. Vincent Mathews, Ebe-
nezer Griffin, Dudley Marvin and M. H. Slbley, Esquires.

“John Whitney, present.

“James L. Gillis, absent.

“Mr. Spencer declared his intention of trying the de-
fendants together. Mr. Griffin desired that Whitney might
be tried alone, but Mr. Spencer insisted that there was a
connection between the two, and persisted in trying them
together.

“Mr. Siblcy objected to the trial of Gillis in his
absence, and appealed to the Court to have his trial post-
poned, in the consideration of the peculiar circumstances
of the case; that Gillis had attended three or four times,
ready to be tried, from another State; that the notice of
trial which had been sent to him had not reached him.

- “Adong discussion followed between Mr. Spencer and
Mr. Sibley, gnd the Court declined putting off Gillis’ trial.

“The Court intimated an opinion that the defendants
ghoiuld be tried separately, but would not direct. The
Bpecial Attbrney remarked that the reason for trying them
hogether, was the convenience of the witnesses and the little
remaining time in the present ferm.

“Mr. Sibley then read an affidavit that John C. Cooper
was a material witness for Gillis, ‘and had been subpoenaed
© 7 7 %8 not attddded; and’ ap]iliea to put off the trial of

D cendequernce. -

hé:Codrt. Againe ovemnled the motion to pegtpone the
" Gillis.

‘rial postponed till afternoon.

Indictment for conspiracy, etc
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“ 4fternoon.—Mr. Sibley wished to be considered as
not assenting to the trial of Gillis in his absence.”

The tiial then proceeded, and a mass of testimony was
taken. The evidence showed pretty plainly that Whitney
accompanied the Morgan carriage from Canandaigua to
some point on the Ridge Road west of Rochester, but the
only possible proof that Mr. Gillis had any connection with
the affair was that he was in Canandaigua the same day_
and returned to Victor the same evening the carriage did.
A Mius. Colier, living at Victor, said she saw the carriage
go into the yard of Enos Gillis, the defendant’s brether,
but afterwards admitted that it might have been the car-
riage of Samuel Gillis, which often went there, and it might
have been some other evening she saw it—so long a time
had transpired she could not remember. Two other wit-
nesses, Aldrich and Cone, gave some testimony of seeing
the defendant Gillis with the Morgan party while it stopped
at Victor, but their stories were so contradictory and so
completely rebutted by other and more respectable witnesses,
that there was no doubt of their impeachment.

The trial resultéd in the jury bringing in a verdict of
guilty as to Whitney, but were unable to agree upon a
verdict as to Gillis.

Whitney was then sentenced by Judge Howell to be
confined in the Ontario county jail for the term of one year
and four months, and the sentence immediately carried into
executiqn. In June, 1830, he was taken out of jail and
conveyed to Leockport by the prosecution as a witness to
testify in the case of Ezekiel Jewett, but when placed upon
the stand refused to be sworn, sayjng *that he was not in
the enjoyment of any of the rights ang privileges of‘ a citi-
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zen, and as his body was kept in confinement, he preferred
confining his mind also.” The Court ordered him to be
imprisoned 30 days in the Canandaigua jail, and to pay a
fine of $250, for contempt. It does not appear that the
order for contempt was ever executed, and was either
remitted by the Judge subsequently, or by a pardon obtained
from the cxecutive of the State.

His term of imprisonment expired in September, 1830,
when he was released. He returned to Rochester, but after
a few years he emigrated to the West, first to Michigan,
from thence to Illinois, and lived to a ripe old age a highly
respected and usecful citizen. He died in the city of Chi-
cago, in 1870, aged over 80 years.

Immediately after the joint trial of Whitney and Gillis,
and the jury failing to agree as to the latter, a sheriff was
sent to Pennsylvania to re-arrest Mr. Gillis and bring him
to Canandaigua, which being done he was required to renew
his bail, and his second trial postponed to some future term.
After several journeys back and forth again Mr. Gillis' case
was brought on for trial at the November term 1830, and’
was one of the last, if not the last, of the trials ever had in
relation to the Morgan affair.

Judge Howell again presided, but John C. Spencer
was no longer the public prosecutor. He was succeeded
by Vlctory Bn'dsye, who was assisted by Bowen Whiting,
the District Attorney. Mr. Gillis was defended by
Messrs. Barnard, Griffin and Sibley, attorneys and coun-
selors. Neither Mr. Gillis nor his'counsel made any

the panel of jurors, and the prosecution
1¢ of that reviling and bitter spirit which had
ied ‘under the administration of the former
mtor. In fact, it was remarked that the trial
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was a fair and manly investigation, and was long remem-
bered as distinguished from the fotmer trials, as honorable
to the cause of justice, to the bar, the bench and the jury
box.

_ The testimony was substantially the same as on the
former trial. The trial only lasted three days. M. Bar-
nard, one of Gillis’ couhsel, closed his aildress to the jury
with the following eloquent peroration in summinz up his
argument: '

What is the case of Gillis? For four long years has he
been charged with crime, when to charge was to convict.
He has suffered and borne without murmuring, the taunts
of a pitiless wprld—of the wicked, and honest, but deceived
—and now comes to tHrow himself upon you for protection.
Eight times, including the present, has he been here for
trial—once Leen tried in' his absence when twelve men
couldn’t bring him in as guilty—he walked over the burn-
ing ploughshare bare but unblistered. We all know that
the public ear was filled with rumors of his absconding. vet
vou saw him come here after his indictment, and confront
his accusers, and you will remember the public ceremony
of serv¥ing a warant upon him as he arrived in the stage.

Not satisfied, and. without notifying him for a second
trial, a formal requisition: is made' upon the Governor of
Pennsylvania, a Sheriff sent for him-and his extensive busi-
ness once mor¢ interrupted—more expense must be added
to the enormous amount he had already been compelled to
pay 6ut;and hardly had he arrived on tle confines of this
State;: before the. press. groans: again with ‘his criminality,
apd again,the. selfish, the cold, the wicked and the vulgar,
unite,ig, feaping infamy on his name! Gentlemey, he is
now _yours. Hjs home, with its infant circle and its. ngpw
ties, walts-for theé jovfuil return of the husband and father
or- to'réosive tidings’ of ity desolation—ithe . burial of its
peaceand its hepes! Eod avett from’ him and' his hibuse,
such a calamity! Gentlemen, he js innocent—mg 13 18NNo-

13 doe ety
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ceNT; and even now methinks [ hear the echo of your
righteous verdict, “HE 18! HE 18!"

The jury without hesitatation brought in a verdict of
“not guilty,” and Mr. Gillis was then released from further
expense or trouble from this harrassing and expensive
affair. The excitement soon after was consigned to its
girave and the old Court House in Canandaigua, and the
whole community enjoyed a more healthly calm.

" Judge Gillig, now having vindicated his character from
Anti-masonic aspersion, returned to Pennsylvania, and pur-
sued his avocations without further interference. To show
the inveterate animosity of the Anti-masonic leaders
towards every one who might he suspected of being con-
cerned in the abduction, it will only be necessary to refer to
an incident in connection with Mr. Gillis, and the determi-
nation of some of them to ruin financially, it they could
not prove any crime against them. Tle Courts of General
Session were composed of a presiding judge and two asso-
ciate judges, which were generally denominated “Side
Judges.” These latter were generally picked up out of
some country justices of the peace and selected by the
partisan managers to help the ticket, with but little regard
to their fitness or capacity. The office was a mere sinecure,
and the presiding judges, who were appointed by the Gov-
ernor, and selected generally for their competency as jurists,
paid but little attention to their associates, who frequensly
were devoid of all knowledge of the devious ways of the
law, and were content to enjoy the honors of ﬁheir stations
and the pay they received, scarcely ever interfering with the

‘udge’s ruling. At the time of the joint trial of
1d Gillis Judge Howell had for one of kis adeo-
te bench & brawling Anti masonic pélitieten by

.
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the name of Rawson. After the verdict of the jury was
received in which it disagreed as to Gillis, this Rawson
remarked to some of his Anti-masonic friends, on the ver-
andah of the principal hotel, that “if they could not get
Gillis convicted, they could at least ruin him—they conld
keep him trotting back and forth from Pennsylvania to
Canandaigua till he became a bankrupt, and then his
money goune it would be an easy matter to get a jury to
bring iu a verdict of guilty,” Some one overhearing this
threat reported it to Mr. Gillis. It was said that it was the
only time that Mr. Gillis had ever lost bis patience or man-
ifested any passion towavds hjs persecutors, but on this
occasion he exliibited some considerable excitement. le
immediately sought Rawson, and finding him near the
entrance to the Hotel, surrounided by a large crowd of
people, who were from all parts of the country attending
the term of court, Mr. Gillis demanded of him to know it
he had. beeu correctly: informed in regard to what he had
heen told he (Rawson) had said. It is supposed that Gjllis’
appearapce, under the excited state of his feelings was
rather belligerent and Rawson slunk back and maintained
a atrict silence.until the demand had been repeatad, when
in a trembling voice-he repliad: “Perhaps I did make such
remark.” Gillis then said: = “Judge Rawson, T am here a
prisoner, not a free man, but T warp yon, it you ever step
Your fogt, on Penusylvania soil, or if I hear of your being
away from this conuty, I will traw.l three hundred miles if
pecessary to meet you, and will then inflict. such a castiga-
t.loq. PROD, yOur Carcass that onl) the grave shall hide your
ahame'" .The crowd s.,lt.hoggh composed mainly of Anti.
mqsons, applauded Mr. (xglhp, and Rawson delt the rebuko
§0 keenly that he resxgncd his posmop, nud never again sat,
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as he was called, a “basswood” Judge afterwards. He was
appointed as one of the delegates to the Anti-masonie
National Convention at Baltimore in Nepteinber, 1830, but
declined to go, it is said for the reason that he feared Gillis
would meet him somewhere on the route, or at Baltimore.

After his acquittal, Mr. Gillis entered upon a large and
extensive business of farming and the manufacture of lum-
ber. He resided there for forty years, and was honored by
several successive elections to bhoth Houses of the State
Legislature, and several local and judicial offices of his
county. In 1856 he was elected a member of Congress
from the 24th district of Pennsylvania. This district was
composed of the counties of Venango, Warren, Elk, McKean,
Clarion, Jefferson and Clearfield—the largest Congressional
District, at that time, in the State. After serving his term
in Congress he was appointed by President Buchanan, In-
dian Agent for the Pawnee Reservation in Nebraska, which
office he held till 1862. In that year he took up his residence
in Mt. Pleasant, Iowa, where he still resides at the age of 82
years, & hale and hearty old man, revered-and esteemed by
all who know him.

Thus. we close our short history of these trials. and the
parties charged with the abductxon of Morgan.

DAVID C. MILLER, .
the first instigator and partner of Morgan in the -publica-
tion of the “Morgan Book,” it is reported sold the first
edition of the work very rapidly and was preparing to issue
another in a more ample form, wher: it seems ‘that Elder
David Bernard, having added greatly to the Morgan work,
procured another copy-right, and being supported by the
seceder’s convention at Leroy, and the Anti-masonic com-
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mittee, Miller abandoned the further publication of the
work. It appears that his venture was a success in a finan-
cial point, and he had but little delay in disposing of his
whole edition at one dollar each: He demurred to Ber-
nard’s right to usurp his prerogative as the Morgan pub:
lisher, but the Anti-masons promising to elect him Clerk of
Genesee county, an office worth from two to threc thronsand
dollars a year. he withdrew his claim. He was elected such
Clerk in November, 1828, but did not hold the office to the
end of the ter:n. He neglected, or was wholly incapable of
performing the duties of the office for which he had been
elected, and his old habits of intemperance increasing upon
him, the records of the county and of the courts were soon
in a jumbled mass of confusion, so much so that the Gourt
appointed a competent man to take charge of the office.
He became besotted, and his son who had ostensibly taken
his place as editor of the “Republican Advocate,” succeeded
no better than his father. They both left Batavia in 1832,
and went to Pennsylvania, as it was understood, and he was
no more heard of about or in Batavia, and left no friends
who took sufficient interest in his fate to make any inquires
as to his subsequent career.
‘'MRS. MORGAN,

‘the wife, or widow, left at Batavia, after her husband’s dis-
appearance, has had a history assigned her almost as mys-
terious as toe fate of her consort, as she has had more re-
ported locations for her residence since that period than
usually falis to the lot of one woman, At one time it was
reported that she was living in Pennsylvanta, at another in
Ohio, Missouri and Hfinois, and many persons claif that
they knew her in Kentucky, and’ others in Michigan, It
was told that some ten year.after she became a “widow™
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this purpme reprmted “Ber ard’s Light on Masonr\
publishers wrote to Bernard, as its original author, to w
an “Jutroduction to the Revised Edition,” but he decli
In his réply he gave his reasons as follows: “I have
war with the masonic fraternity. Indeed, T owe no |
anything bLut love. T hate no disposition therefore
create another excitement against the Order. T would
and die in peace with all mankind.”

THURLOW WEED,

whom we have so frequently mentioned as one of the |
ing organizers of the political Anti-masonic party, and
did much to keep the excitement up so long as there w
remote prospect of the snccess of the party in the S
and a possibility of making it National, has ever s
exercised a controling influence in the politics of
country. He was one of the leading organizers of
Whig party in 1834, aud for 20 years was one of its 1
ahle champions. He has only heen excelled as a succe:
Journalist, by a few men in this country. He may wel
classed equal with Bennett, Greeley, Raymond, Cros
Webb, Bryant, Blair, Green, Medary, Ritchie, Prentis:
of whom were his cotemporaries, and with Clapp, Daw
Cassidy, Gray, Godwin, Forney, Storey, White, Bo
Joues, and many others who now stand at the hea
the profession. He was always the intimate fr
of the late Gov. Seward, and also with Horace Greele
to 1854, when the latter “dissolved the partnership of the
of Seward, Weed & Greeley,” by a published announce
in which the latter withdrew from the flrm. Gre
and Weed after that period were not on intimate terms,
Weed strenaously opposed Greeley in 1872, notwithstan
he had signified his opposition to the Grant administra
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and it was supposed would support the Liberal Republican
nomination. But the coolness that Lal ex’sted between
him and Greeley since 1854, permitted him to make some
exertions to defeat his old friend and co-worker in Whiyg
days, but when he was no more of earth, he wept the true
tears of sympathy over his grave, and no one was more
sincere in lamenting the death of the great journalist. Mr.
Weed long ago retired from active journalistic life, and
resides in a “brown stone front” in opulence, on Fifth
Avenue, New York, hale and hearty at an advanced age.
He retired from the Albany Evening Journal, soon after
the election of Mr. Lincoln, in 1860, and removed to New
York. He was employed by Mr. Lincoln and Mr. Seward
during the war on a secret mission to Europe. He was also
selected administration in various other confidential missions
by the of a delicate nature during that critical period of
the country’s history. After the war he could not remain
inactive, but, in the spring of 1867, purchased the “Com-
mercial Advertiser,” a New York evening paper, and com-
menced his editorial life anew, but ill-health caused him to
abandon the newspaper business forever. Some ycars now
he has been contributing to the Magazine literature of the
day, and his articles are read with great interest by the
public. In his salutatory, on assuming the editorship of the
Commercial Advertiser, in 1867, he mentions many personal
reminiscences of his early life, but omits.all allus.on to the
subject of Morgan-and political Anti-masonry. From this,
it may be inferred that he . would desire his biographer,
when the time comes to write his  life, to blot out of his
T ’ " rence to the AppucrioN. or WiLLiam Moxr-
\NTI-MASONIC EXCITEMENT oF 1826-30.
















